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The year 2016 marked the 60th anniversary of nationally recognised 

and respected brand and company, RioZim Limited (“RioZim”). 

Founded in 1956, the Company was initially incorporated to develop 

and mine the Empress Nickel deposit in Kadoma, Zimbabwe. 

However, the Company has over the years managed to diversify and 

expand its business to mining gold, chrome, coal and diamonds. At 

the heart of RioZim’s operations is its commitment to the 

communities within which it operates. Accordingly, in 1974, the 

Company founded the Rio Tinto Foundation Trust (now known as the 

RioZim Foundation Trust) and thus established the country’s first 

community share ownership trust. The Company has also endured 

its own share of challenges over the years, however with the 

relentless determination of its employees, shareholders and 

stakeholders, the Company has been able to survive these 

challenges. Consequently, on this  60th anniversary, the Company not 

only celebrates its longevity and the reopening of Cam & Motor Mine 

but also the unwavering commitment and support of its employees, 

shareholders and stakeholders at large, and looks forward to an even 

more prosperous future. 
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RIOZIM LIMITED is an integrated 
mining company with a diverse 
portfolio of resources in gold, base 
metals, diamonds, coal and chrome.



RioZim Limited
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 6

2

YEARSYEARS
1956-2016

RIOZIM LIMITED
CELEBRATING 

Corporate History
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RioZim’s history is a true example of the unpredictable yet exciting nature of the mining industry.  As is evident 

in the timeline below, the Company has had its fair share of challenges over the past six decades of its existence.  

Notwithstanding these challenges, the Company’s constant quest for strategic growth and its relentless 

commitment to its stakeholders has guaranteed its continued success.  Furthermore, the Company’s pursuit of its 

goal of creating sustainable shareholder wealth has helped RioZim to not only survive, but to thrive over the years.

Rio Tinto Southern 
Africa Limited 
(“RTSA”) (now 
RioZim) is 
incorporated and 
commences its 
operations by 
exploiting Empress 
Mine’s nickel ore 
body in Kadoma, 
Zimbabwe.

The Foundation 
opens Nyabata 
School in Masvingo.

RTSA purchases 
Cam & Motor Gold 
Mine in Kadoma 
which swiftly 
becomes the largest 
producer of gold 
in the country. In 
the same year 
Sandawana Emerald  
Mine is also 
acquired.

RTR purchases 
Brompton Gold 
Mine. The Refinery 
at Empress Nickel 
Refinery (“ENR”) 
also produces its 
first refined nickel 
on a commercial 
basis.

RTR is listed on 
the national Stock 
Exchange.

Rio Tinto 
Foundation Trust 
(the Foundation) 
is established as 
the Company’s 
corporate social 
responsibility vehicle  
and becomes the 
country’s first 
community share 
ownership trust.

The Foundation 
opens Zhombe High 
School in Kwekwe.

RTR purchases coal 
claims in the Gokwe 
area and begins 
exploration thereof.

Renco Gold Mine is 
purchased. 

RTR’s renamed to 
Rio Tinto Zimbabwe 
Limited (“RTZ”). 
In the same year, 
Empress Mine 
closes down due 
to depletion of ore 
resources.  

Cam & Motor Mine 
closes down due 
to non-viability at 
an average cut-off 
grade of 8g per 
tonne.

RTSA begins 
to diversify and 
purchases 
Patchway 
Gold Mine.

ENR is 
recommissioned to 
process matte from 
Botswana under 
a toll treatment 
agreement.

RTSA renamed to 
Rio Tinto (Rhodesia) 
Limited (“RTR”).

1956 19841959 1967 1969
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19811973
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RTZ forms Sengwa 
Colliery to house 
its coal claims 
in Gokwe and 
the Foundation  
commissions 
Tungwane Dam in 
Masvingo.

A Bankable 
Feasibility Study 
is concluded 
confirming 1.3 
billion tonnes of coal 
resource at Sengwa 
Colliery, capable 
of supporting a 
2,800MW thermal 
power station. 

Brompton Mine 
closes due to limited 
reserves.

Murowa Diamonds 
(Private) Limited 
(“MDPL”) is 
incorporated with 
RTZ holding 50%.

Successful 
conclusion of the 
US$10million Rights 
Issue for the re-
opening of Cam & 
Motor Mine.  

Rio Tinto separate 
from RTZ resulting 
in RTZ becoming a 
minority shareholder 
in MDPL with 22.2% 
shareholding. RTZ 
subsequently renamed 
RioZim Limited 
(“RioZim”) and the 
RZFT renamed to the 
RioZim Foundation 
Trust. In the same year 
MDPL commences 
operations producing 
46 000 carats of 
diamonds.

Eiffel Flats 
Township in Kadoma 
developed around 
ENR is incorporated 
into the Municipality 
of Kadoma. In the 
same year Renco 
is awarded a NOSA 
five star rating, 
becoming the first 
underground mine 
in Zimbabwe to 
achieve such a 
rating. 

Patchway Gold Mine 
is sold due to limited 
reserves. 

The Company 
commissions the 
new world class 
Cam & Motor gold 
processing plant 
and the Bankable 
Feasibility Study on 
Sengwa is updated. 

In December ENR is 
placed under care 
and maintenance 
due to lack of matte 
supply from its sole 
supplier. 

RTZ discovers 
Murowa kimberlites 
in Zvishavane.

Sandawana Emerald 
Mine is sold due 
to low levels of 
production.

1988 1994 1998 2002 20152004

1999 2003 2016201419971992
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Performance Highlights

KEY PERFORMANCE FEATURES

Year on year (2016 vs 2015)

Gold Production

33% increase to 1.6tonnes from 1.2tonnes.

PGMs production

74% decrease to 32tonnes from 120tonnes while in a state of care and maintenance.

Revenue

15% increase to US$65.2million from US$56.5million.

Administration expenses

24% saving to US$18.3million from US$24.2million.

Operating profit

3850% increase to US$7.5million from a loss of US$150thousand.

Net finance costs

19% saving to US$5.4million from US$6.7million.

Profit after tax

128% increase to US$2.5million from a loss of US$8.8million.

EBITDA

293% increase to US$11.0millon from US$2.8million.

Capital expenditure

638% increase to US$15.5million from US$2.1million.
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Location of Operations

Company Operations

In the year under review the Group operated Renco Mine located in Masvingo and the Dalny 
Plant based in Chakari.The Group also operated Cam & Motor Gold Mine and Empress Nickel 
Refinery from Kadoma. In addition, the Group holds 50% interest in Sengwa Colliery (Private) 
Limited, a company with coal assets located in Gokwe North and a 22.2% interest in Murowa 
Diamonds (Private) Limited a company  with a diamond operation located in Zvishavane.
The location of these operations as well as the Group’s areas of interest are shown below:

RioZim LimitedDALNY PLANT

RENCO GOLD MINE

CAM AND MOTOR GOLD MINE

EMPRESS NICKEL REFINERY

MUROWA DIAMOND MINE

GOKWE NORTH COAL PROJECT

DARWENDALE CHROME PROJECT

MINING CLAIMS

EPOs UNDER APPLICATION
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Group and Management Structure

GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER-ACTING

B NKOMO

CA [Z], CA [SA], B Comm – Acc, B Compt [hons]

CHIEF OPERATIONS OFFICER - RIOGOLD

A B MASHINGAIDZE 

Bsc Geology, MBA

CORPORATE AFFAIRS EXECUTIVE

W GWATIRINGA

IOB [Z], IOB [SA], MBA

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGER 

L DUBE 

HND Purchasing, Dip Bus Studies

GENERAL COUNSEL AND GROUP COMPANY SECRETARY

Z MAKORIE 

LLBs [hons][UZ] 

FINANCIAL CONTROLLER

G MUBATA 

CA [Z], CA [SA], BAcc [UZ], B Compt [hons] [UNISA]

CHIEF GEOLOGIST 

F MUPUDZI

BSc Geology

MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE

GROUP PROJECTS  MANAGER 

H S MUTAMBA 

Bsc Metallurgy [hons][UZ]

GROUP HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGER 

J NJANIKE 

Bsc Economics, IPMZ, LCCI Mngt, MBA

MANAGING DIRECTOR –RIOZIM BASE METALS

C KARIWO

Bsc Metallurgy [UK], Dip mgt Dev [UNISA]

MINE MANAGER – DALNY 

S DHLAMINI 

Bsc Geology [UZ], Post Grad Applied Geography [Canada]

GENERAL MANAGER  - CAM & MOTOR MINE

M MACHIKICHO 

Bsc Mechanical Engineering [UZ]

GENERAL MANAGER – RENCO MINE 

N MAFURUTU

Bsc Mining Engineering [hons], MBA

SECRETARIES 

RioZim Management Services (Private) Limited 

RioGold
(Private)
Limited

RioZim Base
Metals

(Private)
Limited

RioDiamonds
(Private)
Limited

RioEnergy
(Private)
Limited

RioChrome
Limited
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C Dengu
Non-Executive Director

Board of Directors

L P Chihota
Non- Executive Chairman

M T Sachak
Non-Executive Director

B Nkomo
 Group Chief Executive Officer - Acting

I M Sharma
Non- Executive Director

S R Beebeejaun
Non-Executive Director

K Matsheza
Non- Executive Director
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Chairman’s Statement

INTRODUCTION

In the midst of exceptional economic volatility, 
2016 was a satisfactory year for RioZim Limited. 
The principal highlight being the commissioning 
of the new Cam & Motor gold processing plant in 
October 2016, following the conclusion of a well 
subscribed rights issue in 2015. 

For the year under review, the Group achieved a 
33% increase in gold production at 1.6tonnes from 
1.2tonnes in 2015. This performance delivered 
an underlying operating profit of US$7.5million 
up from an operating loss of US$150 thousand 
posted in the prior year. Despite the challenging 
and uncertain operating environment, the Group 
managed to increase its revenue by 15% whilst 
cutting administration costs by 24%. Together, 
these developments have reshaped the Group, 
providing a strong foundation for future growth.

Economic Overview 
The Government of Zimbabwe introduced 
various policies in 2016 aimed at recalibrating 
the economy to one that retains capital through 
increased production and exports. These 
measures include the introduction of the export 
incentive scheme funded by bond notes and 
restriction of imports to promote local industry 
and narrow the trade deficit through Statutory 
Instrument 64 of 2016. Despite these initiatives, 
the market remained illiquid with severe foreign 
currency shortages. 

On the other hand, the equities market stood 
hopeful with renewed local investor appetite for 
stocks. The Zimbabwe Stock Exchange’s (“ZSE”) 
mining index doubled in 2016 and RioZim’s share 
price gained by more than 180%. However, the 
ZSE’s annual turnover fell by 15.2% on the back 
of limited participation by offshore investors. This 
is anticipated to improve following the review of 
the single investor limit from 10% to 15% and 
the threshold for foreign investment from 40% 
to 49% per counter, as announced in the 2017 
Monetary Policy Statement. 

It was a turbulent start to 2016 for the mining 
sector, with gold prices averaging US$1 096/oz 
and threatening to fall below US$1 000/oz, a near 
fatal blow to an industry characterized by high 
embedded fixed costs. However, the neoliberalism 
wave propelled by the uncertainties of “Brexit” 
and the 2016 USA elections weakened the stock 
markets in developed countries thereby boosting 
gold demand. As such, the gold price surged 
averaging US$1 285/oz in the second half of 
2016.  Sadly, the prices for base metals remained 
subdued throughout the year. 

Group  Performance 
The Group’s revenue grew by 15% to 
US$65.2million up from US$56.5million in 
2015, despite Empress Nickel Refinery (“ENR”) 
remaining under care and maintenance.  The 
Group closed the year with a net profit after tax 
of US$2.5million (2015: US$8.8million loss) for 
the first time since the introduction of the multi-
currency system. 

L P Chihota

(Chairman)
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Group Treasury -The Group benefited from 
the relief provided by the debt restructuring 
carried out in 2016, which resulted in net finance 
costs reducing by 19% to US$5.4million (2015: 
US$6.7million). Given the capital intensive 
industry in which the Group operates, we further 
look forward to the introduction of facilities and 
policies that avail long term affordable funding, 
as access to such funding remains a challenge. 

Gold - In October 2016, the new Cam & Motor gold 
processing plant was cold commissioned with 
full production commencing in 2017. Throughout 
the year, the Company continued to haul ore from 
Cam & Motor Mine for processing at Dalny Mine. 
Cam & Motor’s gold output almost doubled in 
2016, increasing by 90% to 856kgs from 450kgs 
in the prior year. Renco Mine experienced a 
marginal 4% decrease in gold output to 712kgs 
from 749kgs in 2015 due to subdued grades 
owing to the Mine’s complex ore body. 

Base Metals - ENR remained under care and 
maintenance due to the unavailability of matte 
supplies from its sole supplier, which was 
subsequently placed under provisional liquidation 
during the year. The Group is working on securing 
alternative matte supplies both locally and 
regionally as well as establishing new business 
opportunities for the base metals business. 

Diamonds - The Group’s Associate, Murowa 
Diamonds (Private) Limited is recovering on the 
back of a number of initiatives implemented 
in 2016. These include the rolling out of a new 
mining plan, doubling the plant’s processing 
capacity and investment in owner mining. These 
steps have resulted in a sharp drop in RioZim’s 

share of loss for the year from US$2.2million in 
2015 to US$267 thousand in 2016.

Chrome -The Chrome project remained on hold 
throughout the year as its feasibility remains 
uncertain due to depressed chrome prices in the 
face of prevailing high power tariffs.  The Board 
continues to monitor the situation closely. 

Energy -Following the extensive explorative work 
conducted over the years at Sengwa Colliery 
proving a substantial resource of 1.3billion 
tonnes, investor appetite for the Sengwa Power 
Project has seen a marked improvement in light 
of the forecasted power deficits within the region. 
The bankable feasibility studies for both divisions 
(coal mining and power station) of the Project 
were updated, enabling the Company to have 
meaningful discussions with potential regional 
and international partners.  Stakeholders will be 
kept informed of the Project’s development. 

Sustainability 
In addition to its Corporate Social Responsibility 
programmes, the Company is committed to 
making a lasting contribution to the economic and 
social development of the communities in which 
it operates through the activities of the RioZim 
Foundation Trust (“the Foundation”). In 2016, 
the Foundation focused its attention on better 
understanding the needs of its communities 
through community engagements and directed 
its resources mainly towards alleviating the 
effects of the El Niño induced drought through the 
sinking and rehabilitation of boreholes in Kadoma 
and Nyajena as well as supporting projects that 
empower and develop the communities. 

Gold Production

33%

The Group achieved a 33% 
increase in Gold Production of 
1.6 tonnes from 1.2 tonnes in 
2015. 

INCREASE

Chairman’s Statement (Cont)
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The Group intends to continue increasing its 
outreach programmes through the Foundation 
as it returns to a state of sustainable profitability. 

Outlook
The Group has embarked on a number of 
initiatives that are targeted at returning it to 
sustainable profitability and growth underpinned 
by its drive to invest in exploration and accelerated 
development. The accelerated development 
programme is aimed at identifying new mining 
areas which will enhance the Group’s flexibility 
in the management of its ore grade, particularly 
at Renco Mine. Following the commissioning 
of the Cam & Motor gold processing plant, 
the Company intends to increase operational 
efficiencies through the optimisation of the Plant. 
Additionally, it is intended to increase production 
and gold recoveries through the installation of a 
flotation circuit to the Plant in the second quarter 
of 2017. 

RioZim remains focused on its objective to become 
a leader in innovative, environmentally friendly 
and sustainable mining practices. Accordingly, 
the Company is applying both internal and 
global expertise to devise an economic solution 
for the recovery of gold from the sulphurized 
ore at its Cam & Motor Mine. It is envisioned 
that the solution will increase the life of mine 
and production of the Group’s gold businesses. 
In addition to the internal benefits, the solution 
will also enable third parties to process similar 
material in line with the country’s beneficiation 
programme. 

In September 2016, the Group through its wholly 
owned subsidiary RioGold (Private) Limited, 
entered into an agreement with Falcon Gold 
Zimbabwe Limited to acquire 100% of the issued 
share capital of its subsidiary, Palatial Gold 
Investments (Private) Limited, which houses the 
Dalny Mine Complex in Chakari. In line with the 
Group’s growth strategy to acquire gold mines 
with substantial resources on acceptable terms, 
the acquisition was approved by the shareholders 
of RioZim subsequent to year end. Once the 
remaining condition precedent is fulfilled, this 
acquisition will add a third gold mine to the 
Group’s portfolio. 

Post the period under review, the Group’s 
production was negatively affected by the 
incessant rains experienced country wide. A 
number of measures have been implemented to 
mitigate against the loss of production, the results 

of which will only bear fruit in the second quarter 
of 2017. In addition, the Company continues 
to face challenges with power availability due 
to constraints caused by the power network’s 
aged infrastructure. As electricity is a critical 
component to the Group’s business, this remains 
a constant impediment to the Group’s operational 
performance. The scarcity of foreign currency 
in the economy and the inability to process all 
external payments also poses a threat to the 
Company procuring adequate supplies from 
external suppliers.  Any serious issues here will 
affect the business adversely. 

Notwithstanding these challenges however, 
and given the Group’s positive 2016 results, 
the Board of Directors and I firmly believe that 
RioZim remains poised to positively contribute to 
shareholder and stakeholder wealth in the near 
future.   

Directorate
In October 2016, the Group’s Chief Executive 
Officer (“CEO”), Mr. Noah Matimba’s contract 
with the Company came to an end and he left the 
Group upon its expiry. On behalf of the Board, 
Management and Staff, we wish to thank him for 
his contribution to the Group and wish him every 
success in his future endeavors.

Following Mr. Matimba’s departure, the Board 
appointed the Group Finance Director, Mr. 
Bhekinkosi Nkomo, as Acting Group CEO with 
effect from the 1st of November 2016. Mr. Nkomo 
has been with the Company for four years and 
has been an integral part of the team that has 
helped steer the Group to its present state of 
financial stability. 

Appreciation
I would like to conclude by expressing my 
gratitude to the Directors, Management and 
Staff of RioZim for their commitment, dedication 
and contribution towards the Group’s return to 
profitability. 

I also wish to thank our valued shareholders and 
stakeholders who continue to support the Group 
in its turnaround strategy.

L P Chihota
Board Chairman

22  March 2016
 

Chairman’s Statement (Cont)



RioZim Limited
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 6

11

The principal highlight of 2016 was the commissioning of 

the new Cam & Motor gold processing plant in October, 

following the conclusion of a well subscribed rights issue 

in 2015. 
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Group Chief Executive 
Officer’s Review

INTRODUCTION

Notwithstanding that 2016 was a challenging 
year for the industry and Zimbabwe at large, 
I am pleased to report that RioZim Limited 
experienced a positive and transitional year.

Operating Environment 
In 2016, the effects of the Company’s turnaround 
strategy embodied in the Rights Issue to re-open 
Cam & Motor Mine and debt restructuring were 
reflected in the Company’s share price. At the 
end of 2015 the share price was US$0.10 and 
it increased by more than 180% to US$0.30 as 
at 31 December 2016. The Company intends to 
continue on this upward trajectory so as to deliver 
sustainable shareholder wealth in line with our 
vision. 

While the Company performed well, the global 
market however continued to feel the ripple 
effects of the 2008 global financial crisis. 
Zimbabwe similarly was also still experiencing 
a number of challenges on major economic 
fundamentals. 

In 2016, these challenges were characterized by 
foreign currency shortages, cash constraints, 
power shortages and high borrowing costs on 
short term funding structures. These hardships 
continue to be a real and persistent threat to the 
mining industry which is capital intensive with 
a high operating cost base coupled with volatile 
metal prices. 

B Nkomo

Group Chief Executive Officer - Acting

The Group’s Management remains focused on 
mitigating the impact of these macro-economic 
hardships and constraints through improved 
efficiencies and increased production across all 
operations.

Financial Results 
The Group’s gold production for the year was 
1.6tonnes, a growth of 31% from the 2015 
production of 1.2tonnes. This was however 20% 
below the budget of 2.0tonnes. The growth from 
US$56.5million to US$65.2million in revenue 
was largely driven by an increase in production 
volumes as gold prices remained volatile and 
unpredictable. In order to mitigate the effects 
of the volatile gold prices, the Group increased 
its cost cutting efforts and achieved a 24% 
reduction in the Group’s administrative costs of 
US$18.3million from US$24.2million in 2015.

2016 however remained a positive and transitional 
year with the Group earning an operating profit 
of US$7.5million for the first time since 2013, a 
significant improvement from an operating loss 
of US$150thousand which was posted in 2015. 
Additionally the effects of the debt restructuring 
continued to have a positive impact on the 
Group’s results with a further 19% decrease 
on net interest costs. Together, this resulted 
in the Group declaring a net profit after tax for 
the year of US$2.5million for the first time since 
dollarization. 
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Financial Results

3850%

The Group earned 
an operating profit of 
US$7.5million for the 
first time since 2013, a 
significant improvement 
from an operating loss of 
US$150thousand which 
was posted in 2015. 

Increase in 
Operating 
profit

Group Chief Executive Officer’s Review (Cont)

Whilst the economic fundamentals remain 
unpredictable, Management is making every 
effort to continue improving on this year’s 
performance. 

OPERATIONS OVERVIEw 

Renco Gold Mine 
During the year under review the Mine produced 
712kgs of gold (2015: 749kgs) translating into a 5% 
decrease. This was the result of the deteriorating 
grade of the ore body on current working faces 
and subsequent unproductive relocations to 
alternative stopes. An accelerated development 
exercise has been implemented and is expected 
to yield positive returns during the 2017 financial 
year. All the other operational variables remained 
strong showing an improvement compared to 
2015.

The Company embarked on an extensive plant 
capacitation programme aimed at upgrading the 
aged Renco plant. This programme started in 
2015 and remains an ongoing phased exercise 
aimed at improving plant availability. Over 
and above plant availability, the capacitation 
programme yielded an improvement in the plant 
recoveries from an average of 88% to an average 
of 92% in 2016.
 
The table below shows a reconciliation of the ore 
reserves and resources of Renco Mine as at 31 
December 2016.  
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Group Chief Executive Officer’s Review (Cont) 

Renco Resource Statement  Tonnes Grade 
(g/t)

Content
(kg)

Proved ore reserves as at 1 January 2016 23 915 5.81 159
Plus developed during the year 3 515 9.16 32
Less depleted by mining during the year 4 810 5.74 28
Proved ore reserves as at 31 December 2016 22 620 7.23 164
    
Probable ore reserves as at 1 January 2016 1 413 763 6.60 9 417
Plus developed during the year 61 524 6.35 391
Less depleted by mining during the year 47 000 5.69 268
Probable ore reserves as at 31 December 2016 1 428 287 6.68 9 540
    
Total mineral reserves as at 31 December 2016 1 450 907 6.69 9 704
Total mineral reserves as at 31 December 2015 1 437 678 6.59 9 576
    
Measured mineral resources as at 31 December 
2016

143 980 5.38 775

Measured mineral resources as at 31 December 
2015

143 980 5.38 775

    
Inferred mineral resources as at 31 December 
2016

3 218 760 7.14 22 996

Inferred mineral resources as at 31 December 
2015

3 218 760 7.14 22 996

In 2017, the focus of the Mine shall be to upgrade 
its ore reserves to principally improve its Proved 
Reserve. The Mine therefore will initiate an 
extensive exploration and development exercise 
directed at unearthing more mineral ground 
at an improved rate. A review process will 
also be introduced to assess the cost/benefit 
of maintaining the processing capacity of the 
plant at current levels versus an expanded 
throughput capable of processing lower grade 
ores at significantly higher volumes. A positive 
outcome would see the mine transforming into 
a high tonnage-low grade operation, ultimately 
producing more gold than current operations. 

Cam & Motor Mine 
The new Cam & Motor gold processing plant 
produced 90kg of gold within its commissioning 
period (October to 31 December 2016). Sadly the 

commissioning phase has been slightly protracted 
due to some teething problems that were 
experienced in the carbon-in-leach (CIL) section 
and the milling section in which the clutching 
system prematurely failed. These problems were 
escalated and referred back to the manufacturer 
and will be attended to in the ensuing financial 
year. Once resolved it is expected that the plant 
will commence full production. 

On the other hand all the fundamentals on the 
mining side remained on course with the grade 
exceeding expectations as well as average 
recovery in some instances. 

Below is the reconciliation of ore reserves 
and resources for Cam & Motor Mine as at 31 
December 2016:
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Group Chief Executive Officer’s Review (Cont) 

The advantage of Cam & Motor Mine, as indicated 
in the above Resource Statement, is that the bulk 
of its reserves are in the Proven category. Further 
exploration will be done to, at least, restore the 
resources depleted through mining activity and in 
this regard a process has been initiated to acquire 
the necessary equipment and tools to capacitate 
this exploration and development exercise. 

In order to be able to process the refractory 
material, a flotation circuit has been ordered and 
is expected to be commissioned in the Second 
Half of 2017.

The coming on board of the new plant, with a 
2500tonnes per day (“tpd”) design capacity, has 
necessitated the need to accelerate the relocation 
of certain properties in the Mine’s critical path. 
The relocation exercise is being undertaken in a 
phased approach and the process will continue 
in 2017. 

This Mine has a lot of potential as evidenced in 
its 2016 gold output which increased by 88% 
from 443kgs in 2015 to 832kgs in 2016 and was 

commemorated at the Inaugural Gold Industry 
Excellence Awards at which the Mine was 
awarded the most improved large scale gold 
producer award. With such potential in its infancy, 
I am quite hopeful that once all the teething 
problems of the plant have been addressed, the 
Mine will significantly add to the Group’s overall 
production and performance. 

Cam & Motor / Dalny Plant
The Group continued to profitably operate the 
Dalny plant on the basis of ore feed from its Cam 
& Motor Mine. This arrangement will continue 
into 2017 until the conclusion of the acquisition 
of Palatial Gold Investments (Private) Limited 
(“Palatial Gold”) which houses the Dalny plant, 
mine and other assets. The acquisition will 
enable Dalny Mine to establish its own ore supply 
and become an independent operation within the 
Group’s gold portfolio.

Empress Nickel Refinery 
Empress Nickel Refinery (“ENR”) remained 
under care and maintenance and the Company 
continued to look for alternative sources of raw 

Cam & Motor Resource Statement Tonnes Grade 
(g/t)

Content
(kg)

Proved ore reserves as at 1 January 2016 3 964 217 5.17  20 495
Less depleted by mining during the year  197 020 5.39  1 062
Less marginal ore depleted by mining during the year  164 000 1.71   280
Proved ore reserves as at 31 December 2016 3 603 197 5.32  19 153

Probable ore reserves as at 1 January  2016  379 424 4.28  1 624
Probable ore reserves as at 31 December  2016  379 424 4.28  1 624

Total reserves as at 31 December 2016 3 982 621 5.22  20 777
Total reserves as at 31 December 2015 4 343 641 5.09  22 119
Processed  material resources    

Processed  material resources as at 1 January 2016  199 000 2.50  
Less depleted by mining during the year  40 100 3.04  
Processed material resources as at 31 December 
2016

 158 900 2.49  

Inferred mineral resources as at 31 December 2016  387 600 2.80  
Inferred mineral resources as at 31 December 2015  387 600 2.80  



RioZim Limited
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 6

16

YEARSYEARS
1956-2016

RIOZIM LIMITED
CELEBRATING 
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materials and opportunities for cash generation. 
These efforts became of great importance 
following the placement of BCL Limited, ENR’s 
sole supplier of matte, under provisional 
liquidation in October 2016. 

As a result, a combination of revenue generating 
and equipment preserving projects were carried 
out at the Refinery. These projects included the  
production of platinum-group metals (“PGMs”) 
from the Refinery’s own residues and also slag 
processing in order to recover metals. These 
initiatives will continue into 2017 and are expected 
to generate adequate cash flows to meet ENR’s 
care and maintenance costs while ensuring that 
the Refinery remains in good condition to resume 
operations once matte supplies are secured. 

Sengwa Colliery 
Whilst Sengwa Mine remained non-operational, 
a business feasibility study was undertaken by 
WAPCOS Limited during the year under review. 
The study raised potential investor interest 
resulting in the Company engaging in a number 
of discussions with possible suitors interested in 
partnering with us in mining the deposit. Investor 
appetite to commit however remains subdued 
as the world and the nation acclimates to the 
country’s new policy measures. Shareholders 
and stakeholders will be kept informed of the 
project’s development. 

Over the years the Company has extensively 
explored the ground at Sengwa Colliery and 
the potential is as illustrated in the Resource 
Statement below:-  

Associate – Murowa Diamonds (Private) Limited 
In 2016 Murowa Diamonds embarked on a 
plant expansion programme and migrated 
away from contract mining to owner mining. 
The two initiatives have resulted in significant 
cost savings and increased throughput with the 
Mine’s production increasing by 45% to 432 635 
carats from 297 883 carats in 2015. The Group 
recorded a share of loss from associate of 
US$267thousand against a loss of US$2.2million 
which was recorded in the prior year. 

Human Resources
The Group’s staff complement averaged 2 131 
for the year with the reopening of Cam & Motor 
Mine and the operation of the Dalny plant 
allowing the Group to create further employment 
opportunities. ENR, despite remaining under 
care and maintenance, was able to sustain its 
staff on short time due to the running of revenue 
generating and equipment preserving projects 
throughout the year. 

Additional experienced staff was also recruited 
towards year end and into 2017 to further 
capacitate the Group in the execution of its 
strategic goals. I believe that the additional 
and existing staff complement consists of the 
right talent and skills necessary to execute 
and implement the Group’s vision and build a 
sustainable business. 

Staff turnover was stable at an annual average 
of 1.10% as compared to 1.27% in 2015. All of 
the Group’s skilled and professional employees 
are indigenous Zimbabweans, in line with 
the Company’s belief that the country has 
the requisite human resources base for the 
Company’s intended growth and development.

Industrial Relations 
The Industrial relations climate was relatively 
cordial during the 2016 financial year. On the 
Corporate Affairs front, Stakeholder engagement 
and communication guided activities both 
internally and externally, particularly in the key 
activities of property relocations at the Cam & 
Motor Mine.

Sengwa Resource Statement

Resource
Category

Measured Indicated Inferred Total

Tonnes 
000s

519 068 513 422 328 324 1 360 815

Stripping 
ratio 
(bcm/t)

2.66 3.20 6.70 5.90

Thickness 
(m)

21.53 20.00 19.70

Moisture 
(%ad)

2.57 3.00 3.10

Ash (%ad) 34.40 37.20 38.30

Sulphur (% 
ad)

0.33 0.35 0.33

Energy 
(MJ/Kg ad)

19.57 18.29 17.77
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Community  
The Group continues to be an active member 
of the communities within which it operates 
through the efforts of its corporate social 
responsibility vehicle RioZim Foundation 
(“Foundation”). In 2016, in the midst of 
funding constraints, the Foundation focused 
it resources towards alleviating the effects 
of the El Nino induced drought through the 
sinking and rehabilitation of boreholes and 
water sources in Kadoma and Masvingo. It also 
undertook extensive community engagements 
in order to better plan its activities for the 
ensuing year with the aim of increasing its 
outreach programmes as it returns to a state of 
sustainable profitability.

Future Prospects 
As evidence in the Group’s history, the Group has 
acquired and accumulated a diverse portfolio of 
assets in gold, base metals, coal, diamonds and 
chrome.  

Subsequent to year end, the Group’s strategic 
plan was reviewed and refocused to increasing 
the Group’s production from its various 
assets and generating positive cash flows. An 
aggressive exploration thrust, including the 
acquisition of its own drilling equipment, is 
expected to grow the Group’s ore reserve base 
leading to an end to blind mining. The Group 
further anticipates increasing its control over 
some operational functions which are currently 
being out-sourced. 

Such initiatives together with the existing cost 
management and optimisation of efficiencies 
measures, I believe, will not only strengthen 
our profitability and balance sheet but also 
maximise our cash flow generating capacity. 
The Company will continue to pursue disciplined 
debt reduction initiatives and continue to 

evaluate possible acquisitions as and when the 
opportunity arises. In accordance thereto the 
Company looks forward to the conclusion of the 
acquisition of Palatial Gold in the First Quarter of 
2017. The acquisition is expected to significantly 
reshape the Company’s gold portfolio in line with 
its long-term growth strategy. 

RioZim acknowledges the significance of ENR not 
only to the community of Kadoma but to its history 
and stakeholders. Management will continue to 
identify alternative sources of matte in order to 
bring the Refinery back to full operation. We will 
also continue to engage relevant stakeholders 
in order to establish a sustainable investment 
partner for the Sengwa Power Project which 
once completed will go a long way in bridging the 
national and regional power deficit. 

Appreciation
I would like to thank the RioZim team, for their 
commitment and belief in the Group’s prospects. 
I would also like to thank our Board and Chairman 
for their counsel and guidance. 

Lastly I would like to thank our valued shareholders 
and stakeholders for their continued interest and 
support in 2016 and I look forward to the year 
ahead.

B Nkomo 
Group Chief Executive Officer – Acting 

Harare 
22 March 2017

Group Chief Executive Officer’s Review (Cont) 
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Health, Safety and Environment

INTRODUCTION

Major characteristics of the Group are its 
commitment to maintaining and improving 
workplace health and safety and also its endless 
pursuit of ensuring the preservation of the 
environment. This is in line with the Group’s goal 
of sustainable development. In relation thereto 
the Group recorded the following milestones in 
2016:

•	 Zero	fatalities	
•	 Zero	environmental	incidents	
•	 20%		decrease	in		Lost	Time	Injuries	to	12		
 from 15 in 2015.

Health 
While the Group thrives to have zero occupational 
health cases, one cannot avoid the potential 
threats and dangers to one’s health associated 
with the industry. Therefore, in order to mitigate 
against these threats and dangers, a state of 
preparedness is employed throughout all our 
operations. During the year under review, the 
Group conducted trainings in First Aid in line 
with the Chamber of Mines recommendations to 
have all employees certified in the administration 
of First Aid. Additional trainings were also 
conducted in accident and incident reporting, 
and the Group continued to implement its pre and 
post employment examinations. A key focus area 
for the Group remains being its on-going efforts 
to raise HIV/AIDS awareness through provision 
of voluntary counselling and testing services to 
both its employees and the communities within 
which it operates as well as commemorating and 
supporting World and National Aids Days with 
community outreach programmes. 

Safety
Safety is a crucial facet of the Group which involves 
constant scrutiny and review of operations as the 
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Group recognises its legal and moral responsibility 
to provide a safe working environment. The Group 
undertakes various innovative safety initiatives 
to increase work place awareness of safety risks 
beginning with its mandatory health, safety 
and environment induction programme offered 
to all employees, contractors and visitors. In 
recognising that a culture of safety emanates 
from exemplary behaviour, during the year under 
review, a supervisor-employee corrective action 
programme was implemented and has resulted 
in a 20% decrease to 12 ( 2015:15) in Lost Time 
Injuries. 

Environment 
As a responsible corporate citizen, RioZim 
employees a dedicated environmental 
management team that plans and oversees the 
implementation the Group’s projects in water 
and waste management, air quality and land 
rehabilitation.  No major environmental issues of 
concern arose during the year under review. The 
Group maintained its commitment to ensuring 
that its new operations meet contemporary 
international standards from the outset, whilst 
older operations were rehabilitated to meet these 
standards as practical considerations allowed. 

In 2016, 2000 trees were planted at Renco Mine 
to commemorate National Tree Planting Day and 
also to rehabilitate the tailings dam. 

Due to the commissioning of the Cam & Motor 
gold processing plant, the Group’s overall water 
and energy usage increased. However, the 
environmental management team has initiated 
a programme to assess the plant’s water and 
energy efficiency for optimisation and integration 
into Group’s environmental policy. The effects 
thereof will be evident in the first half of 2017 upon 
stabilisation of the plant.  

Health, Safety and Environment (Cont)
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INTRODUCTION

An integral part of the RioZim culture is that its 

business and operations are not solely driven 

by commercial interests or the ‘bottom line’ 

but instead, the Company seeks at all times to 

promote and empower local communities from 

which it operates. In that respect, the Company 

formed the RioZim Foundation (“the Foundation”) 

which is focused on championing the sustainable 

development of local communities within which 

RioZim operates by improving the lives and 

welfare of these communities. The Company 

is committed to exercising good corporate 

citizenship through the Foundation which has 

been spearheading a number projects in various 

parts of the country. 

THE FOUNDATION

Background
The Foundation was founded in 1974 with a 
mission to address the development needs of 
local communities from which RioZim operates. 
The Foundation has largely achieved this 
objective by promoting sustainable development 
practices through education and initiatives 
aimed at boosting food production and access to 
healthcare by individual community members. 

Since its formation, the Foundation has managed 
to provide assistance to various communities 
of the country through various projects which 
include the Rupike and Tugwane Irrigation 
Schemes, the establishment of the RioZim 
Institute of Agriculture as well as the construction 
of the Kwayedza, Mhondoro, Nyabata and 
Zhombe High Schools. In addition to the above, 
the Foundation has also helped in the setting up 
of some microenterprise projects in the various 
communities.  

Social Performance and Labour Practices
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Governance 
During the period under review, the Foundation’s 
Notarial Deed of Trust was amended to 
ensure its alignment with good corporate 
governance practices in respect of areas such 
as the composition of the board, the criterion of 
appointing trustees and procedures for board 
meetings. Following the amendments, the Board 
of Trustees was dissolved and a new Board of 
Trustees was subsequently appointed. Entrusted 
and empowered to give effect to the objects and 
intentions of the Trust are the following members 
of the Board of Trustees:  Mr Lovemore Chihota, 
Mr Bhekinkosi Nkomo, Mr Muchadeyi Ashton 
Masunda, Mr Kumbirayi Katsande, Mr. Eben 
Makonese, Dr. Vincent Hungwe and Mrs Francie 
Shonhiwa.
 

Projects 
In the year 2016, the Foundation managed to 
support the setting up of various microenterprise 
projects in Goromonzi which projects have 
significantly transformed the livelihoods of people 
in that area. Additionally, the Foundation also 
assisted a number of community development 
projects through its subsidiaries at Renco Mine, 

Empress Nickel Refinery and Cam and Motor. 
These were in the form of education assistance, 
community empowerment, provision of health, 
water and sanitation services.

With the support of the Gokwe Rural District 
Council, the Foundation, working in conjunction 
with the Patel Family and Friends, also donated 
a classroom block at Magee Primary School in 
Gokwe North, a very remote area in Zimbabwe.  
The children had been walking long distances to 
access education, with the nearest school being 
about 8km away. The Foundation also bought 100 
chairs and desks to furnish the classroom block . 

A number of low cost but high impact projects 
have been approved by the Board of Trustees for 
execution in 2017 subject to the availability of  
funds.

Relocations 
The reopening of Cam & Motor Mine has 
necessitated the relocation and or resettlement 
of a number of commercial and residential 
properties in Eiffel Flats, Kadoma. 

The relocations are being undertaken in phases 
based on the requirements of the mining plan, 
minimum mining distances and impact zones 

Magee Primary School Before

Magee Primary School After
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as guided by the legislative framework and 
recommended by the Company’s advisors. A 
relocation action plan as well as the guiding 
principles for the relocation programme 
have been developed and are in place. Key 
stakeholders in the relocation programme have 
been identified and a stakeholder engagement 
and communication plan is in place.  

HUMAN CAPITAL

Investing in our people
Training and employee development has and 
continues to be an integral part of RioZim’s 
strategy  to retain and improve its skills inventory.

In employment vacancies that require semi and 
unskilled labour force, the Group has been giving 
preference to the local community which is in 
tandem with its policy of improving the livelihoods 
of the communities from which it  operates.

During the year 2016, the Group strengthened its 
human capital investment initiatives through:

•	 	Recruitment	 of	 employees	 and	 attachment	

students from local communities.
•	 	Recruitment	of	Graduate	Trainees	from	local	

learning institutions and universities so as to 
contribute towards the development of local 
graduates.  

•	 	Assisting	 by	 fully	 funding	 employees	 who	
pursue self-development courses.

Employment trends
The Company remained focused on ensuring 
that its labour force remained aligned to the 
production levels on the ground. The Group 
also continued with its policy of improving the 
economies of the communities from which  it 
operates by offering employment and training. 

During the 2016 financial year, the Group had an 
average staff complement of 1601 permanent 
staff broken down into 240 skilled employees and 
1361 semi-skilled employees.  The company also 
employed an average of 530 contract employees 
across the Group bringing the total complement 
to 2131.

Social Performance and Labour Practices (Cont)

RioZim Employment Trends
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Introduction 
RioZim Limited believes that the maintenance 
of good corporate governance principles is an 
integral part of the manner in which the Group 
conducts its business. Accordingly, the Group 
subscribes to the principles of accountability, 
fairness, discipline, independence, integrity, 
social responsibility and transparency as laid out 
in the National Code on Corporate Governance 
Zimbabwe, the King III Code on Corporate 
Governance and the Zimbabwe Stock Exchange 
Listing Requirements.

The Board and Management believe that through 
adherence to these principles, they will be able 
to carry out their responsibilities effectively, 
faithfully and to the best interests of shareholders 
and the society. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Overview
The Board is responsible for setting up the 
Company’s policies and determining its strategy. 
It maintains full and effective control by meeting 
quarterly to monitor and assess operational and 
financial performance, reviewing the strategy, 
providing value based leadership, directing 
management, cultivating and promoting  an 
ethical corporate culture. If required the Board 
can meet on an ad hoc basis to deliberate over 
matters of urgency. In 2016 the Board met four 
times with an additional strategy meeting being 
held post year end. 

During the period under review the RioZim 
Board comprised of six non-executive directors. 
Prior to year-end, Mr. Noah Matimba, the Group 
Chief Executive Officer’s contract expired and 
Mr. Bhekinkosi Nkomo, Group Finance Director, 
was appointed Acting Group Chief Executive 
Officer with effect from the 1st of November 
2016, thereby reducing the number of executive 
directors from two to one. 

Board Attendance
The following table details directors’ attendance 
of Board Meetings for the year ended 31 
December 2016.

Company Secretary
RioZim Management Services (Private) Limited is 
the Company Secretary of the Company and its 
subsidiaries. The benefit of a corporate Company 
Secretary is to allow for continuity while drawing 
from a large pool of expertise. 

The office of the Company Secretary holds in high 
regard the principles of ethics, accountability, 
intergrity and transparency. In accordance 
thereto the Company Secretary advises the Board 
on appropriate procedures for the management 
of meetings as well as ensuring  that the Terms 
of Reference of the Committees are kept up to 
date and in line with best practice. All directors 
have full access to the Company Secretary in 
terms of practical support and guidance as 
regards the proper discharge of their duties. 
This however does not preclude directors from 
seeking independent professional advice at the 
Group’s expense.

Board Committees
In order allocate due time and consideration to 
its vast responsibilities, the Board has delegated 
some of its tasks to specialised committees. 
Each committee is governed by specific terms 
of reference which include membership 
requirements, duties and reporting procedures. 
At the end of each committee meeting, highlights 
of the proceedings are prepared and presented 
by the chairman of each Committee to the main 
Board. The effectiveness of these committees is 
evaluated by the Board on an annual basis. 

Corporate Governance Statement

L P Chihota Non-Executive 
Chairman

4/4

N M Matimba* Chief Executive 
Officer

3/3

C Dengu Non-Executive 
Director

4/4

K Matsheza Non-Executive 
Director

4/4

B Nkomo Chief Executive 
Officer- Acting

4/4

S R Beebeejaun Non-Executive 
Director

2/4

M T Sachak Non-Executive 
Director

3/4

I M Sharma Non-Executive 
Director

2/4

*resigned effective 31 October 2016
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Corporate Governance Statement (Cont)

Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee comprises of 
three non-executive directors and is chaired by 
Mr. Caleb Dengu. Executive directors and the 
head of the internal audit department may attend 
the meetings as invitees. The external auditors 
have unrestricted access to this committee. The 
committee`s responsibilities include the review 
of internal controls, the review of accounting 
policies and important accounting issues, 
establishing appropriate risk and control policies 
and assuring the integrity and reliability of 
financial statements.

Finance and Investment Committee
The Finance and Investment Committee 
comprises of three non-executive directors with 
executive directors as ex officio members. Mr. 
Mustafa T. Sachak chairs the committee which 
meets quarterly. The committee’s main objective 
is to provide strategic and tactical review of the 
Group’s finance and investment projects. Such 
reviews are cognisant of prevailing economic 
conditions and agreed internal performance 
targets.

Remuneration and Nominations Committee
The Remuneration and Nominations Committee 
comprises of two non-executive directors and the 
Group Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Caleb Dengu 
is the chairman of the committee which meets 
not less than twice a year. The committee advises 
the Board on matters relating to personnel, 
particularly remuneration, incentives and talent 
management. Its aim is to ensure that the 
Group attracts and thereafter retains motivated, 
qualified, diverse and skilled personnel. 

Sustainable Development Committee
The Sustainable Development Committee 
comprises of three non-executive directors with 
the Group Chief Executive Officer, Corporate  Affairs 
Executive and all mine managers as invitees. 
Mr. Kurai Matsheza chairs the committee which 
meets not less than twice a year. The primary 
function of the committee is to assist the Board 
in matters concerning sustainability, stakeholder 
management, ensuring regulatory compliance, 
maintenance of social and environmental ethics. 

Committee Attendance
The chart below details the directors’ attendance of the four committees.

Key :  * resigned effective 31 October 2016
  ^ Invitee
  -not a member

Name Audit and Finance  Remuneration Sustainable
 Risk and and Nominations Development
  Investment

L P Chihota - - 1/1^ -

N M Matimba* (Executive) 3/3^ 5/5 2/3 0/1

C Dengu 4/5 6/6 3/3 -

K Matsheza - 5/6 3/3 2/2

B Nkomo (Executive) 5/5^ 5/6 - 1/1

S R Beebeejaun 3/5 - - -

M T Sachak 5/5 5/6 - 2/2

I M Sharma - - - 0/2
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The aim of the committee is to preserve RioZim’s 
desire of being an accountable, conscious and 
responsible corporate citizen.  

Declaration of Directors’ and Employee Interests
a)   In accordance with the principle of 

transparency, the Company observes a 
closed period, from one month from the 
end of the relevant accounting period to 
the announcement of the interim or year-
end results, as the case may be. During 
the closed period neither the directors 
nor officers of the Group may deal, either 
directly or indirectly, in the shares of the 
Company.

   Outside of the closed periods, directors 
and officers of the Company must obtain 
prior written approval of the Board in order 
to deal in its shares.

 
b)    Directors and officers of the Company are 

obligated to declare any material interest 
they have that may be deemed to be in 
conflict with their appointments.

  

 During the year under review the following  
 declarations were submitted:-
 i.  In accordance with section 182 of the 

Companies Act [Chapter 24:03], and 
as detailed in the Direct and Indirect 
Shareholding of Directors page 29 of this 
Report Mr. C Dengu declared that he 
directly held shares in the Company and 
Mr. M Sachak declared that he held shares 
both directly and indirectly.  

 ii.  In accordance with section 182 (2) of the 
Companies Act, the Directors declared 
their other directorships including those 
held in subsidiaries of RioZim. 

 iii.  In accordance with section 186 of the 
Companies Act, Mr C. Dengu declared 
his interest as Investment Advisor for the 
Sengwa Power Project, in terms of the 
contract entered into between RioZim and 
CDFT Capital, a Mauritian based company 
for which he is a non-resident shareholder 
and managing director. 

Corporate Governance Statement (Cont)
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Report of the Directors

INTRODUCTION

The Directors hereby have the pleasure of 
presenting their report, together with the 
consolidated financial statements of RioZim 
Limited and its subsidiaries (together the 
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2016.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

In the midst of a challenging economic 
environment and debilitating power costs and 
shortages, the Group performed well, reporting 
a net profit after tax for the year of US$2.5million 
as detailed in the extract of financials statements 
below:-

Dividends 
The Company’s dividend policy states that the 
Company’s ability to declare and pay dividends 
is based on the Company’s level of profitability, 
internal cash requirements, on-going capital 
expenditure requirements, financial prudence, 
any contractual, legal or regulatory restrictions 
on the payment of dividends by the Company, its 
tax position and any other factors considered 
relevant by the Directors. 

After a detailed consideration of the above policy, 
the Company’s growth strategy and cash flow 
position, the Directors have deemed it prudent 
not to declare dividends for the period.
 
Share Capital
In January 2016, a debt restructuring was 
successfully concluded resulting in the issuance 
of the cumulative redeemable preference shares. 
As a result, the Company’s share structure has 
changed as detailed in the table below:- 

 2016   2015

 US$ 000  US$ 000

 
Profit / (loss) before tax   1 831   (9 063 )
Income tax credit     718      258 
Profit / (loss) for the year 2 549  (8805 )
Total comprehensive
profit / (loss) for the year   2 316   (8 993 )
Dividends  -  -
   

 2016  2015
Share capital No. of shares Nominal value No. of shares Nominal value
 000 US$000 000 US$000

Authorised share capital     
   
Ordinary shares of US$0.01 each 140 000  1 400  150 000  1 500 
Cumulative redeemable preference
shares of US$0.01 each  10 000   100  -  - 
Special Dividend Share of a 
nominal value of US$124 876  0.001    125             0.001    125 
Total  150 000    1 625   150 000    1 625 
     
Issued share Capital     
Ordinary shares of US$0.01 each  122 030   1 220    122 030   1 220 
Cumulative redeemable preference 
shares of US$0.01 each* 10 000   100  -  - 
Special Dividend Share of a nominal
value of US$124 876**  0.001    125        0.001  125 
Total 132 030    1 445    122 030    1 345 

Notes:

*The cumulative redeemable preference shares have a fixed coupon rate of 9% and are redeemable on or before their 5th anniversary
 of 22 January 2021.
**The entitlement to the Special Dividend expired 31 December 2013 and the share now ranks equally with other ordinary shares.
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Report of the Directors (Cont)

Share Capital (continued)
The Company has 17 970 000 (2015: 27 970 000) 
authorised unissued shares. As contained in the 
Notice to shareholders convening the 61st Annual 
General Meeting, the Company will be seeking 
authority from members to place 10% of the 
authorised unissued shares under the control of 
the directors.

AUDITORS 

Messrs. Ernst and Young Chartered Accountants 
(Zimbabwe) have indicated their willingness to 
continue as the auditors of the RioZim Limited 
Group. Members will be asked to fix their 
remuneration for the past audit and confirm their 
re-appointment for the ensuing year at the 61st 
Annual General Meeting.

DIRECTORATE 

Composition 
During the year under review, there was no change 
to the Company’s non-executive directors. In 
October 2016 however, the Group Chief Executive 
Officer (“CEO”), Mr. Noah Matimba retired from 
the Group after the expiry of his contract. We 
thank him for his contribution to the Group’s 
successful turnaround and wish him every 
success in his future endeavors. 

Following Mr. Matimba’s departure, the Board 
appointed Mr. Bhekinkosi Nkomo, Group Finance 
Director as Acting Group Chief Executive Officer. 
He has an excellent understanding of the business 
and he has been an integral part of the team that 
has helped steer the Group to its present state of 
stability. 

In terms of Article 95 and 96 of the Company’s 
Articles of Association, one third of the directors 
(exclusive executive directors) shall retire 
by rotation each year at the Annual General 
Meeting. Accordingly Messrs. Dengu and Sharma 
retire by rotation and being eligible, hereby offer 
themselves for re-election.

Director’s Remuneration
A resolution will be proposed at the Annual 
General Meeting to approve the Directors’ 
Remuneration amounting to US$135 500 for the 
period 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016. 

By order of the Board

RioZim Management Services (Private) Limited 
(Secretaries) 
Per Z Makorie

Unissued Share Capital 
    2016  2015
 No. of shares Nominal Value No. of shares Nominal Value
 000 US$000 000 US$000

Ordinary shares of US$0.01 each   17 970     180    27 970     280 
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Directors’ Responsibility for Financial Reporting

Directors’ Responsibilities
The Directors of RioZim Limited are responsible 
for preparing the financial statements and related 
information contained in this report in accordance 
with the applicable laws and regulations and 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). The financial statements should present 
fairly in all material respects, the financial 
position and the performance of the Group. The 
Directors are required to:
•	 	maintain	internal	controls	that	are	necessary	

to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material 
misstatements whether due to fraud or error;

•	 	select	 suitable	 accounting	 policies	 and	 then	
apply them consistently;

•	 	make	 judgments	 and	 estimates	 that	 are	
reasonable and prudent;

•	 	state	whether	applicable	accounting	standards	
have been followed and;

•	 assess	the	going	concern	status	of	the	Group.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper 
accounting records that disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time, the financial position of 
the Group and enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Companies 
Act [Chapter 24.03]. The Directors also have 
the responsibility for taking such steps as are 
reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets 
of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and 
other irregularities.

Compliance with the Companies Act [Chapter 
24:03] and Zimbabwe Stock Exchange (ZSE) 
Listing Requirements

These financial statements, which have been 
prepared under the historical cost convention, 
are in agreement with the underlying books and 
records and have been properly prepared and 
comply with the disclosure requirements of the 
Companies Act [Chapter 24:03] and the Zimbabwe 
Stock Exchange Listing Requirements.

Compliance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS)
The accompanying financial statements, have 

been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 
suitable accounting policies have been used and 
applied consistently.

Going Concern
In assessing the going concern status of the 
Group the Directors took into consideration the 
Group’s budgets, forecasts, and the Group’s 
achievements in the year under review that will 
have a positive bearing on the future performance 
and cash flows of the Group and believe that the 
Group will continue to operate as a going concern. 
Therefore the going concern basis has been 
adopted in the preparation of the accompanying 
financial statements.

Significant assumptions and estimates
The Directors believe that reasonable and 
prudent judgments and estimates have been 
made and applied in the preparation of the 
financial statements. 

The preparation of the financial statements 
and the process thereto was done under the 
supervision of Mr. B Nkomo (PAAB No.03242) 
and under the guidance of the Directors  of the 
Company,  who are vested with the governance 
and responsibility  for these financial statements 
as is provided for in terms of the common 
law, Companies Act [Chapter 24:03] and other 
legislative and regulatory requirements.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2016 which appear on pages 36-99 
have been approved by the Board of Directors and 
are signed on their behalf by:

L P Chihota  B Nkomo
Board Chairman  Group Chief Executive 
 Officer - Acting
 
22 March 2017
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 As at 31 December 2016  

    

   

Director’s Name No. of Shares as at 31 December 2016

C Dengu  187

M Sachak^ 51 441

Total   51 628

^Mr. M Sachak holds 51 441 shares in his personal capacity and an indirect shareholding through Triedward 

Investments (Private) Limited which owns 68 368 ordinary shares in RioZim Limited. 

There were no changes in the above direct and indirect shareholding of directors as at 22 March 2017, the date 

of publication of these financial statements.

As at December 2015

Directors Name No. of Shares as at 31 December 2015

C Dengu  187

M Sachak 51 441

Total  51 628

   

Direct and Indirect Shareholding of Directors
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont) 
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont) 



RioZim Limited
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 6

33

Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont) 
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont) 
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont) 
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December 2016
    2016   2015
   Notes US$ 000  US$ 000

Revenue    6  65 218     56 489 
Cost of sales  (44 009 ) (42 053 )
     
Gross profit  21 209     14 436 
     
Distribution  and selling costs   (80 ) (345 )
Administrative expenses  (18 305 ) (24 230 )
(Losses)/gains on disposal of property, plant and equipment   7  (1 )    5 
Other income   9    4 711      9 984 
Operating profit / (loss)   7    7 534   (150 )
     
Net finance costs  (5 436 ) (6 685 )
Finance income 10     70      92 
Finance costs  11 (5 506 ) (6 777 )
Share of loss from an associate 12 (267 )  (2 228 )
     
Profit / (loss) before tax    1 831   (9 063 )
     
Income tax credit   13     718      258 
     
Profit / (loss) for the year    2 549    (8 805)
     
Other comprehensive income      
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit      
or loss in subsequent periods:     
Fair value gain on available -for- sale investments 17.1 (4 )    9 
Income tax effect    13  1   (1 )
Net other comprehensive (loss) / income to be reclassified to      
profit or loss in subsequent periods  (3 )    8 
      
Other comprehensive loss not to be reclassified to      
profit or loss:     
Re-measurement loss on defined benefit plans   27  (230 ) (196 )
Net other comprehensive loss not to be reclassified to      
profit or loss in subsequent periods  (230 ) (196 )
     
Total other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax  (233 ) (188 )
     
Total comprehensive profit / (loss) for the year    2 316    ( 8 993 )
     
Profit / (loss) for the year attributable to:     
Owners of the parent  2 594   (8 713 )
Non-controlling interests 22 (45 ) (92 )
      2 549   (8 805 )
Total comprehensive profit / (loss) attributable to:     
Owners of the parent    2 361   ( 8 901 )
Non-controlling interests  22  (45 ) (92 )
      2 316   (8 993 )
     
Earnings / (loss) per share:
Basic     14    2.13     (10.63 )
Diluted basic   14   2.13       (10.63 )
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
For the year ended 31 December 2016

         
     2016  2015  2016  2015
    Notes  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000
   
 ASSETS    
 
 Non current assets          
 Property, plant and equipment  15   48 136   32 977    46 718    32 846 
 Exploration, evaluation and development
 assets 16  14 965   15 393    14 238    14 666 
 Investment in subsidiaries 17.2  -     -    166     166 
 Investment in associate company  12  3 360  3 627    8 041    8 041 
 Available for sale investments 17.1   202   205    202     205 
 Held to maturity investments 17.3  -    1 189    -     1 189 
 Long term receivables 17.4 686   -      686    -   
 Deferred tax assets 13   6 644   5 993    6 418    5 981 
 Total non-current assets   73 993  59 384    76 469    63 094 
             
 Current assets          
 Inventories  18  43 701   41 209    43 701    41 209 
 Trade and other receivables 19.1  4 942   5 682    6 982    7 412 
 Derivative financial assets 19.2  -     241    -    241 
 Cash and cash equivalents  20   1 134  5 852   1 133   5 851 
 Total current assets   49 777   52 984    51 816    54 713 
             
 Total assets  123 770   112 368    128 285    117 807 
             
 EQUITY & LIABILITIES          
 Shareholders’ equity          
 Share capital 21.1.3  1 345   1 345    1 345    1 345 
 Share  premium 21.1.3 20 789   20 789    20 789    20 789 
 Available for sale reserve 21.2.1 142   145    142     145 
 Accumulated losses 21.2.2 (17 591 ) (19 955 ) (14 027 ) (15 219 )
 Equity attributable to equity holders
 of the parent   4 685   2 324    8 249    7 060 
 Non-controlling interests 22  (671 ) (626 )  -     -   
 Total equity    4 014   1 698    8 249    7 060 
             
 Non-current liabilities          
 Cumulative redeemable preference
 shares 23  33 434   -    33 434    -   
 Interest bearing loans and borrowings 24   3 333    36 917     3 333     36 917 
 Provisions 25   1 173   332     1 173      332 
 Deferred tax liabilities 13   -   66   -   - 
 Employee benefit liability 27  1 272   953     1 272      953 
 Total non-current liabilities   39 212   38 268   39 212     38 202 
             
 Current liabilities          
 Trade and other payables 26.1   61 834   55 465     62 114     55 608 
 Fixed term payable  26.2 6 603    6 035     6 603     6 035 
 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 24  12 107   10 902     12 107     10 902 
 Total current liabilities    80 544   72 402     80 824     72 545 
             
 Total liabilities   119 756    110 670     120 036     110 747 
             
 Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity   123 770   112 368    128 285    117 807 
             
  These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on  22 March 2017 and signed on its behalf by: 

           
 

             
 
 L Chihota  B Nkomo      
 Chairman                    Chief Executive Officer - Acting      

Group Company
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Consolidated Statement of Cashflows
For the year ended 31 December 2016

    2016   2015
   Notes US$ 000  US$ 000

Cash flows from operating activities    
Operating profit/(loss)     7 534   (150)
Adjustments to add/(deduct) non-cash items     
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  15   2 367     2 073 
 Amortisation of capital development assets  16   1 134      848 
 Loss/(gains) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  7    1   (5)
 Unrealised exchange loss/(gain)  7    187   (600)
 (Decrease)/Increase in mine rehabilitation provision  25 (59)     145 
 Net interest cost on defined benefit fund  7    92      89 
 Settlement discounts  9 (1 563)  (8 688)
 Other non-cash (income)/expenses   (570)     347 
Working capital adjustments:     
 Change in inventories   (2 492)    10 751 
 Change in trade and other receivables      740   (3 412)
 Change in derivative financial assets      241      77 
 Change in trade and other payables     6 369      635 
Net cash flows from operating activities     13 981     2 110 
    
Cash flows from investing activities     
Investment in exploration and evaluation assets  16 (706)  (811)
Expenditures on property, plant and equipment   (14 798)  (1 300)
Proceeds from sale of  held to maturity investments      385   - 
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment       66      5 
Interest received from investing activities      70      92 
Net cash used in investing activities  (14 983)  (2 014)
    
Cash flow from financing activities     
Inflows from borrowings     4 002     1 988 
Repayment of borrowings  (5 720)  (2 127)
Net proceeds from issue of shares   -     7 076 
Interest paid   (1 998)  (1 334)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities   (3 716)    5 603 
    
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents   (4 718)    5 699 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period     5 852      153 
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December  20   1 134     5 852 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2016

1.  GENERAL INFORMATION

  RioZim Limited (‘the Company’) and its subsidiaries (together ‘the Group’) are involved in mining 
and metallurgical operations in different locations in Zimbabwe. The Group has mining operations 
and a metallurgical plant.

  The Company is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Zimbabwe. The address 
of its registered office is 1 Kenilworth Road, Highlands, Harare.

  The Company is listed on the Zimbabwe Stock Exchange. These financial statements were 
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2017.

  The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

 2.1  Statement of Compliance
  The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB), the disclosure requirements of the Companies Act (Chapter 24:03) and 
the relevant statutory instruments (SI 33/99 and SI 62/96). The consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments and 
available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets that have been measured at fair value.

  The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States Dollars, and all values are 
rounded to the nearest thousand (US$000), except where otherwise indicated. 

 2.2 Basis of consolidation
  The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its 

subsidiaries as at 31 December 2016. Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control 
exists when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 

 Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has all of the following:
	 •	 	Power	over	the	investee	(i.e.	existing	rights	that	give	it	the	current	ability	to	direct	the	relevant	

activities of the investee);
	 •	Exposure,	or	rights,	to	variable	returns	from	its	involvement	with	the	investee;	and
	 •	The	ability	to	use	its	power	over	the	investee	to	affect	its	returns

  Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support 
this presumption and when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of 
an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has 
power over an investee, including: 

	 •	The	contractual	arrangement(s)	with	the	other	vote	holders	of	the	investee;
	 •	Rights	arising	from	other	contractual	arrangements;
	 •	The	Group’s	voting	rights	and	potential	voting	rights.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

 2.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)
  The relevant activities are those which significantly affect the subsidiary’s returns. The ability to 

approve the operating and capital budget of a subsidiary and the ability to appoint key management 
personnel are decisions that demonstrate that the Group has the existing rights to direct the 
relevant activities of a subsidiary.

  The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate 
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a 
subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group 
loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or 
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the 
Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

  Profit or loss and each component of OCI are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the 
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests 
having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of 
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All 
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

  A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an 
equity transaction.

  If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), 
liabilities, non-controlling interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss 
is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 3.1 Investment in associate
  An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence, generally accompanying 

a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint 
control over those policies.

  The considerations made in determining significant influence are similar to those necessary to 
determine control over subsidiaries.

  The Group’s investments in its associate are accounted for using the equity method. Under the 
equity method, the investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of 
the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate 
since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount of 
the investment and is not tested for impairment separately. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

 3.1 Investment in associate (continued)  
  The statement of profit or loss reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate. 

Any change in OCI of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s OCI. In addition, when 
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises 
its share of any changes, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains 
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the 
extent of the interest in the associate.

  The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate is shown on the face of the 
statement of profit or loss outside operating profit and represents profit or loss after tax and non-
controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associate.

  The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. 
When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the 
Group.

  After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise 
an impairment loss on its investment in its associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines 
whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If there is 
such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the 
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss as ‘Share 
of profit of an associate’ in the statement of profit or loss.

 
  Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any 

retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate 
upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from 
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

 3.2  Joint arrangements
  The Group undertakes certain business activities through joint arrangements. A joint arrangement 

is an arrangement over which two or more parties have joint control. Joint control is the contractually 
agreed sharing of control over an arrangement which exists only when the decisions about the 
relevant activities (being those that significantly affect the returns of the arrangement) require the 
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. The Group’s joint arrangements comprise of a 
joint operation.

 Joint operations
  A joint operation (JO) is a type of joint arrangement in which the parties with joint control of the 

arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement.

 In relation to its interests in JOs, the financial statements of the Group includes:
	 •	Assets,	including	its	share	of	any	assets	held	jointly.
	 •	Liabilities,	including	its	share	of	any	liabilities	incurred	jointly.
	 •	Revenue	from	the	sale	of	its	share	of	the	output	arising	from	the	joint	operation.
	 •	Expenses,	including	its	share	of	any	expenses	incurred	jointly.
  All such amounts are measured in accordance with the terms of each arrangement which are in 

proportion to the Group’s interest in the JO.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

 3.3 Foreign currencies
  The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in US dollars, which is also the parent 

entity’s functional currency and the Group’s presentation currency. The Group does not have any 
foreign operations.  

  Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by each entity in the Group at their 
respective functional currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition.

  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional 
currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting date. All differences are taken to the statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

  Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured at 
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair 
value was determined.  The gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items measured 
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on the change in fair value of 
the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in OCI or 
profit or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively). 

 3.4. Property, plant and equipment
 

 i) Initial Recognition
  Upon completion of the mine construction phase, the assets are transferred into “Property, plant 

and equipment”. Items of property, plant and equipment and producing mine are stated at cost, 
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

  The initial cost of an asset comprises its purchase price or construction cost, any costs directly 
attributable to bringing the asset into operation, the initial estimate of the rehabilitation obligation, 
and, for qualifying assets (where relevant), borrowing costs. The purchase price or construction 
cost is the aggregate amount paid and the fair value of any other consideration given to acquire the 
asset. The capitalised value of a finance lease is also included in property, plant and equipment.

  When a mine construction project moves into the production phase, the capitalisation of certain 
mine construction costs ceases, and costs are either regarded as part of the cost of inventory 
or expensed, except for costs which qualify for capitalisation relating to mining asset additions, 
improvements or new developments, underground mine development or mineable reserve 
development.

  When significant parts of plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the 
Group depreciates them separately based on their specific useful lives. Likewise, when a major 
inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment 
as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs 
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 

 3.4. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
 

 i) Initial Recognition (continued)

  The present value of the expected cost for the decommissioning of an asset after its use is included 
in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition  criteria for a provision are met. Refer to 
significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (Note 4) and provisions (Note 25) 
for further information about the recognised decommissioning provision.

 ii) Subsequent measurement
  Land and buildings comprise factories, staff houses and offices. Land is not depreciated. 

Development costs are amortised over the life of the mine concerned. Depreciation on other assets 
is calculated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

 
 Furniture and fittings  3 - 8 years
 Motor vehicles 3 - 5 years
 Plant and equipment shorter of economic life of asset and life of mine
 Freehold buildings  100 years

  No depreciation is charged when the carrying amounts of items of property, plant and equipment 
are equal or less than their residual values or when the item has not yet been brought into use (e.g. 
capital work in progress). An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially 
recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in 
the profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

  The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
reporting date.

 
  Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount 

and are recognised, in profit or loss. 

 3.5   Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure

 3.5.1 Exploration and evaluation expenditure
  Exploration and evaluation activity involves the search for mineral resources, the determination 

of technical feasibility and the assessment of commercial viability of an identified resource. The 
application of the Group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure requires 
judgment to determine whether future economic benefits are likely, from either future exploitation 
or sale, or whether activities have not reached a stage that permits a reasonable assessment of 
the existence of reserves.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
 3.5 Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure (continued)

 3.5.1  Exploration and evaluation expenditure (continued)
 Exploration and evaluation activity includes:
	 •	 Researching	and	analysing	historical	exploration	data.
	 •	 Gathering	exploration	data	through	geophysical	studies.
	 •	 Exploratory	drilling	and	sampling.
	 •	 Determining	and	examining	the	volume	and	grade	of	the	resource.
	 •	 Surveying,	transportation	and	infrastructure	requirements.
	 •	 Conducting	market	and	finance	studies.

  License costs paid in connection with a right to explore in an existing exploration area are capitalised 
and amortised over the term of the permit. Once the legal right to explore has been acquired, 
exploration and evaluation expenditure is charged to profit or loss as incurred, unless the directors 
conclude that a future economic benefit is more likely than not to be realised. These costs include 
materials and fuel used, surveying costs, drilling costs and payments made to contractors.

  In evaluating whether the expenditures meet the criteria to be capitalised, several different sources 
of information are used. The information that is used to determine the probability of future benefits 
depends on the extent of exploration and evaluation that has been performed. 

  If a project does not prove viable, all irrecoverable costs associated with the project are written 
off. When it is decided to proceed with development, any provisions made in previous years are 
reversed to the extent that the relevant costs are recoverable. If an undeveloped project is sold, 
any gain or loss is included in operating profit, such operations being a normal part of the Group’s 
activities. Exploration and evaluation expenditure is capitalised net of proceeds from the sale of 
ore extracted during the exploration and evaluation phase. Where these proceeds exceeds the 
exploration and evaluation costs, any excess income is recognised in the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income. 

  Exploration and evaluation assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses, up until the mine starts producing, after which the cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses will be amortised over the life of the mine concerned.

 3.5.2  Development expenditure
  If a project proves viable after the exploration and evaluation work completed to date supports the 

future development of a mine and such development receives appropriate approvals, all subsequent 
expenditure on the construction, installation or completion of infrastructure facilities including 
purchase cost of any machinery and equipment and any costs directly attributable to bringing 
the machinery and equipment into operation (freight, duties and taxes not recoverable  from the 
tax authorities) are capitalised under ‘Capital Work in Progress’. Upon completion of the mine 
construction phase, the assets are transferred to ‘Property, plant and equipment’ if tangible, or 
to ‘Development costs’ if intangible. The items of property, plant and equipment and development 
costs are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation/amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

 3.5 Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure (continued)

 3.5.2  Development expenditure (continued)
  The initial cost of the mine assets comprises purchase price or construction cost, any costs directly 

attributable to bringing the asset into operation, the initial estimate of the rehabilitation obligation, 
and, for qualifying assets (where relevant), borrowing costs.

 3.6  Impairment of non-financial assets
  The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset or cash 

generating unit (CGU) may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment 
testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal and its 
value in use. Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. 

 
  When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 

considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are 
recognised in profit or loss in expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired 
asset.

 
  In calculating value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 

using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, 
recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an 
appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, 
quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators.

  The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which 
are prepared separately for each of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. 
These budgets and forecast calculations generally cover a period of at least five years or the 
expected useful life of the asset or CGU. 

  For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have 
decreased. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in 
the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss 
was recognised. 

  The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed either its 
recoverable amount, or the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of accumulated 
depreciation/amortisation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. 
Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

 3.7 Financial instruments 
  A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 

liability or equity instrument of another entity. 

 

 i) Financial assets
 

 Initial recognition and measurement
  Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and Available For Sale (AFS) financial 
assets, as appropriate. All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case 
of financial assets not recorded at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are 
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. 

 
  The Group’s financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, 

derivative financial assets, long term receivables and available for sale investments.

 Subsequent measurement
 For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:
	 •	 Financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	
	 •	 Loans	and	receivables
	 •	 Held-to-maturity	investments
	 •	 AFS	financial	assets

 Available-for-sale investments
  Available-for-sale investments include equity investments. Equity investments classified as 

available for sale are those that are neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair 
value through profit or loss.

  After initial measurement, AFS financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value with 
unrealised gains or losses recognised in OCI and credited to the AFS reserve until the investment is 
derecognised, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in other operating income, 
or the investment is determined to be impaired, when the cumulative loss is reclassified from 
the AFS reserve to the statement of profit or loss in finance costs. Interest earned whilst holding 
AFS financial assets is reported as interest income using the EIR method. The Group evaluates 
whether the ability and intention to sell its AFS financial assets in the near term is still appropriate. 
When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive 
markets, the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets if management has the ability 
and intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

  For a financial asset reclassified from the AFS category, the fair value at the date of reclassification 
becomes its new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on the asset that has been recognised 
in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of the investment using the EIR. Any 
difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is also amortised over the 
remaining life of the asset using the EIR. If the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, 
then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

 3.7 Financial instruments (continued)

 Loans and receivables
  This category is the most relevant to the Group. Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 

assets with fixed or determinable payment terms that are not quoted in active markets. The 
Group’s loans and receivables comprise of government treasury bills, ‘Trade and other receivables’ 
and ‘Cash and cash equivalents’ which are classified under current assets except for maturities 
greater than 12 months after the reporting date which are classified under non-current assets.

  After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using EIR method, less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any 
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR 
amortisation is included in finance income in the statement of profit or loss. The losses arising 
from impairment are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in finance costs for loans and in 
cost of sales or other operating expenses for receivables.

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and 

financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial 
assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing 
in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as 
held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments, as defined by IAS 39. 

  This category also applies to the Group`s Quotational derivative assets. The “Quotational Period” 
is the period after the physical shipment of goods during which the price and grade of minerals 
sold is subject to change due to fluctuations in commodity prices and also upon testing by the 
counterparty of the mineral content.

 Derecognition
  A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 

financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement 
of financial position) when:

	 •	 The	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset	have	expired;	
 Or
	 •	 	The	Group	has	transferred	its	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset	or	has	assumed	an	

obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under 
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either: (a) the Group has transferred substantially all 
the risks and rewards of the asset; or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the 
asset.

  The Group did not have any arrangements involving partial transfer of its rights to receive cash 
flows from a financial asset nor entered into any pass-through arrangements during the year. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

 3.7 Financial instruments (continued)

 Impairment of financial assets
  The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is objective evidence that a financial 

asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that 
has occurred since the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’), has an impact on 
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be 
reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of 
debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and 
observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, 
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

 Financial assets carried at amortised cost
  For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether impairment 

exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial 
assets that are not individually significant. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a 
debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, and there is observable 
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as 
arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. The amount of impairment will be the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

 
  The carrying amount for trade and other receivables will be reduced through the use of an allowance 

account whilst for all other financial assets the impairment loss is adjusted directly on the carrying 
amount. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an 
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised impairment 
loss is recognised in profit or loss.

 Available-for-sale investments
  For AFS financial assets, the Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective 

evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

  In the case of equity investments, objective evidence of impairment would include a significant 
or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost. The determination of what 
is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires judgment. In making this judgment, the Group evaluates, 
among other factors, the duration or extent to which the fair value of an investment is less than 
its cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference 
between the acquisition costs and fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) is removed from OCI and recognised in profit or 
loss. Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through profit or loss; increases in 
their fair value after impairment are recognised in OCI. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

 3.7 Financial instruments (continued)

 ii) Financial liabilities

  Initial recognition and measurement
  Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through  

profit or loss, loans and borrowings or payables, as appropriate.

  All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings 
and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

 
 The Group’s financial liabilities include ‘trade and other payables’ and ‘loans and borrowings’ as  
 financial liabilities in the scope of IAS 39. 

 Subsequent measurement
  The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:

 Trade and other payables
  Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary 

course of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is 
due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they 
are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade payables are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method.

  Interest-bearing loans and borrowings, fixed term payables and cumulative redeemable preference 
shares

  Interest-bearing loans and borrowings, fixed term payable and cumulative redeemable preference 
shares are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and 
fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs 
in profit or loss.

  Fees paid on establishment of facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the 
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. To the extent that 
there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee 
is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to 
which it relates.

  Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date. 

  Cumulative Redeemable preference shares are non – current liabilities as the issuer cannot 
demand settlement within twelve months of the reporting date.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

 3.7 Financial instruments (continued))

 ii) Financial liabilities

 Derecognition
  A financial liability is derecognised when the associated obligation is discharged, cancelled 

or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such 
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition 
of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

 3.8 Inventories
  Gold, nickel, copper, cobalt, Platinum Group of Metals (PGMs) in concentrate, metal and minerals 

in circuit and ore stockpiles are physically measured or estimated and valued at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated future sales price of the product the 
entity expects to realise when the product is processed and sold, less estimated costs to complete 
production and bring the product to sale. Write downs to net realisable value and inventory losses 
are expensed to profit and loss in the period in which they occur.

  Cost is determined by using the weighted-average method and comprises direct purchase costs 
and an appropriate portion of fixed and variable overhead costs, including depreciation and 
amortisation incurred in converting materials into finished goods, based on the normal production 
capacity. The cost of production is allocated to joint products using a ratio of weights at each month 
end. Separately identifiable costs of conversion of each metal are specifically allocated. 

  Materials and supplies are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Any provision is 
determined by reference to specific items of stock.  A regular review is undertaken to determine 
the extent of any provision for obsolescence.

 3.9 Taxation
 Income tax expense/credit represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

 i) Current tax
  Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 

from or paid to the taxation authorities. Taxable profit or assessed loss differs from profit/loss 
as reported in the statement of comprehensive income because of items of income or expense 
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The 
tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively 
enacted, at the reporting date.

  Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not 
in the statement of profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax 
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation 
and establishes provisions where appropriate. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 

 3.9  Taxation (continued)
 

 ii) Deferred tax 
  Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases 

of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting 
date.

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:
	 •	 	Where	the	deferred	tax	liability	arises	from	the	initial	recognition	of	goodwill	or	an	asset	

or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

	 •	 	In	respect	of	taxable	temporary	differences	associated	with	investments	in	subsidiaries,	
associates and interests in joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

 
  Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of 

unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized 
except:

	 •	 	When	the	deferred	tax	asset	relating	to	the	deductible	temporary	difference	arises	from	the	
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit 
or loss.

	 •	 	In	respect	of	deductible	temporary	differences	associated	with	investments	in	subsidiaries,	
associates and interests in joint arrangements, deferred tax assets are recognised only to 
the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable 
future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be 
utilised. 

  The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part 
of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each 
reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable 
profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

  Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or 
loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in Other 
Comprehensive income or directly in equity. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 

 3.9  Taxation (continued)
 

 ii) Deferred tax (continued)
  Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set 

off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the 
same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

 iii)    Value Added Tax (VAT)
  Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of VAT except:
	 •	 	Where	the	VAT	incurred	on	a	purchase	of	assets	or	services	is	not	recoverable	from	the	

tax authorities, in which case the VAT is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the 
asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

	 •	 	Receivables	 and	 payables	 that	 are	 stated	 with	 the	 amount	 of	 VAT	 included.	 The	 net	
amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

 3.10 Employee benefits

 i) Pension and other post-employment benefits
  The Group has both defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes. The schemes 

are generally funded through payments to insurance companies or trustee-administered funds, 
determined by periodic actuarial calculations. 

  A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions 
into publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or 
voluntary basis. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions 
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee 
service in the current and prior periods. The contributions are recognised as an employee benefit 
expense when they are due. 

  A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan. Typically defined 
benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee shall receive on retirement, 
usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation. 

  The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plan is determined annually by independent 
actuaries using the projected unit credit method.

  Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling, 
excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability and the return on 
plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability), are 
recognised immediately in retained earnings through OCI in the period in which they occur. Re-
measurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 

 3.10  Employee benefits (continued)
 Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on the earlier of:
	 •	 	The	date	of	the	plan	amendment	or	curtailment,	and
	 •	 		The	date	that	the	Group	recognises	restructuring-related	costs.
  Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. 

The Group recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation under ‘cost of 
sales’ and ‘administration expenses’ in profit or loss:

	 •	 	Service	costs	comprising	current	service	costs,	past-service	costs,	gains	and	losses	on	
curtailments and non-routine settlements.

	 •	 Net	interest	expense	or	income.

 3.11 Provisions 

 i) General
  Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 

result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, 
under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when 
the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in profit or 
loss net of any reimbursement.

  If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current 
pre-tax rate that reflects where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting 
is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as part of finance 
costs.

 ii) Rehabilitation provision
  Mine rehabilitation costs will be incurred by the Group either while operating, or at the end of 

the operating life of, the Group’s facilities and mine properties. The Group assesses its mine 
rehabilitation provision at each reporting date. The Group recognises a rehabilitation provision 
where it has a legal and constructive obligation as a result of past events, and it is probable that 
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the 
amount of obligation can be made. The nature of these restoration activities includes: dismantling 
and removing structures; rehabilitating mines and tailings dams; dismantling operating facilities; 
closing plant and waste sites; and restoring, reclaiming and revegetating affected areas.

  The obligation generally arises when the asset is installed or the ground/environment is disturbed 
at the mining operation’s location. When the liability is initially recognised, the present value of 
the estimated costs is capitalised by increasing the carrying amount of the related mining assets 
to the extent that it was incurred as a result of the development/construction of the mine. Any 
rehabilitation obligations that arise through the production of inventory are recognised as part 
of the related inventory item. Additional disturbances which arise due to further development/
construction at the mine are recognised as additions or charges to the corresponding assets and 
rehabilitation liability when they occur. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 

 3.11 Provisions (continued)

 
 ii) Rehabilitation provision (contined)
  Costs related to restoration of site damage (subsequent to start of commercial production) that 

is created on an ongoing basis during production are provided for at their net present values and 
recognised in profit or loss as extraction progresses.

  Changes in the estimated timing of rehabilitation or changes to the estimated future costs are dealt 
with prospectively by recognising an adjustment to the rehabilitation liability and a corresponding 
adjustment to the asset to which it relates, if the initial estimate was originally recognised as part 
of an asset measured in accordance with IAS 16.

  Any reduction in the rehabilitation liability and, therefore, any deduction from the asset to which it 
relates, may not exceed the carrying amount of that asset. If it does, any excess over the carrying 
value is taken immediately to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
If the change in estimate results in an increase in the rehabilitation liability and, therefore, an 
addition to the carrying value of the asset, the Group considers whether this is an indication of 
impairment of the asset as a whole, and if so, tests for impairment. If, for mature mines, the 
estimate for the revised mine assets net of rehabilitation provisions exceeds the recoverable value 
that portion of the increase is charged directly to expense.

  Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the change in present value based on the 
discount rates that reflect current market assessments and the risks specific to the liability. 
The periodic unwinding of the discount is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income as part of finance costs. For closed sites, changes to estimated costs are 
recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

  The Group recognises neither the deferred tax asset in respect of the temporary difference on the 
decommissioning liability nor the corresponding deferred tax liability in respect of the temporary 
difference on a decommissioning asset.

 3.12 Revenue and other income 
  Revenue is recognised to the extent it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 

Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable, net of discounts, rebates, and sales taxes or duty. The Group 
has concluded that it is the principal in all of its revenue arrangements since it is the primary 
obligor in its revenue arrangements, has pricing latitude and is also exposed to inventory and 
credit risks.

  Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership 
have been transferred, which is considered to occur when title passes to the customer. This 
generally occurs when product is physically transferred onto a vessel, train, conveyor or other 
delivery mechanisms. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 

 3.12 Revenue and other income (continued)
 The following criteria are also applicable to other specific revenue transactions:

 

 a) Gold bullion sales
  Revenue from gold bullion sales is brought to account when the significant risks and rewards of 

ownership have been transferred to the buyer and selling prices are known or can be reasonably 
estimated. This generally occurs when product is physically transferred to the buyer.

 b) Nickel, copper and other minerals in concentrate sales
  Nickel and copper sales are measured at the price agreed between RioZim and the buyer. 

Negotiations begin at London Metals Exchange (LME) market prices prevailing on the day. The 
revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of returns and 
allowances, trade discounts and volume rebates.

  Contract terms for the Group’s sale of metal in concentrate to third parties allow for a price 
adjustment based on final assay results of the metal in concentrate by the customer to determine 
the final content. These are referred to as provisional pricing arrangements, and are such that the 
selling price for metal in concentrate is based on prevailing spot prices on a specified future date 
after shipment to the customer (the quotation period). Adjustments to the sales price occur based 
on movements in quoted market prices up to the date of final settlement. The period between 
provisional invoicing and final settlement can be between one to six months. 

  Sales contracts for metal in concentrate that have provisional pricing features are considered 
to contain an embedded derivative, which is required to be separated from the host contract for 
accounting purposes. The host contract is the sale of metals in concentrate and the embedded 
derivative is the forward contract for which the provisional sale is subsequently adjusted. 
Recognition of sales revenue for these commodities is based on the most recently determined 
estimate of metal in concentrate (based on initial assay results) and the spot price at the date of 
shipment. The embedded derivative is initially recognised at fair value, with subsequent changes 
in the fair value recognised in profit or loss each period until final settlement, and presented as 
part of revenue. Changes in fair value over the quotation period and up until final settlement are 
estimated by reference to forward market prices for metals and minerals. 

 c)  Interest income
  For all financial assets measured at amortised cost, interest income is recorded using the effective 

interest rate (EIR). EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over 
the expected life of the financial asset or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset. Interest income is included in finance income in profit or loss.

 

 d)  Rental income
  Rental income arising from operating leases on property, plant and equipment is accounted for on 

a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in other income in profit or loss.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 

 3.12  Revenue and other income (continued) 

 e) Export incentives
  Export incentives are recognized when gold and metal sales are completed and the export proceeds 

have been received by the Company. The incentives are 2.5% of all export receipts and are paid by 
the Central Bank. 

 3.13  Fair value measurement
  The Group measures financial instruments such as derivatives and available for sale assets at fair 

value at each balance sheet date.

  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the 
liability takes place either:

	 •	 In	the	principal	market	for	the	asset	or	liability.
 Or
	 •	 	In	the	absence	of	a	principal	market,	in	the	most	advantageous	market	for	the	asset	or	

liability.
  The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.

  The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their 
economic best interest.

  A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability 
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to 
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

  The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

  All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements 
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described, as follows, based on the lowest-level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

	 •	 	Level	 1	—	Quoted	 (unadjusted)	market	prices	 in	active	markets	 for	 identical	 assets	or	
liabilities. 

	 •	 	Level	2	—	Valuation	techniques	for	which	the	lowest-level	input	that	is	significant	to	the	
fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

	 •	 	Level	3	—	Valuation	techniques	for	which	the	lowest-level	input	that	is	significant	to	the	
fair value measurement is unobservable.

  For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the 
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing 
categorisation (based on the lowest-level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as 
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

 3.13  Fair value measurement  (continued)
  For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities 

based on the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value 
hierarchy as explained above.

 3.14 Current versus non-current classification
  The Group presents assets and liabilities in statement of financial position based on current/non-

current classification.
 An asset is current when it is either:
	 •	 Expected	to	be	realised	or	intended	to	be	sold	or	consumed	in	the	normal	operating	cycle.
	 •	 Held	primarily	for	the	purpose	of	trading.
	 •	 Expected	to	be	realised	within	12	months	after	the	reporting	period.
	 •	 	Cash	or	cash	equivalent	unless	restricted	from	being	exchanged	or	used	to	settle	a	liability	

for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
 All other assets are classified as non-current.

 A liability is current when either:
	 •	 It	is	expected	to	be	settled	in	the	normal	operating	cycle.
	 •	 It	is	held	primarily	for	the	purpose	of	trading.
	 •	 It	is	due	to	be	settled	within	12	months	after	the	reporting	period.
	 •	 	There	is	no	unconditional	right	to	defer	the	settlement	of	the	liability	for	at	least	12	months	

after the reporting period.

  The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.
 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities. 

 3.15  Leases
  The determination of whether an arrangement is (or contains) a lease is based on the substance of 

the arrangement at the inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfilment 
of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset (or assets) and the arrangement 
conveys a right to use the asset (or assets), even if that asset is (or those assets are) not explicitly 
specified in an arrangement.

 Group as a lessee
  A lease is classified at the inception date as a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease that 

transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the Group is classified 
as a finance lease. Finance leases are capitalised at the commencement of the lease at the 
inception date fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the 
lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 
Finance charges are recognised in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

  A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable 
certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated 
over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

 3.15  Leases (continued)
  An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. Operating lease payments are recognised 

as an operating expense in the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.

  Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating 
leases. The Group does not have any finance lease arrangements. Operating lease payments are 
recognised as an operating expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.

 Group as a lessor
  Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 

an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases is recognised on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating 
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the 
lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the 
period in which they are earned. 

 3.16 Cash and cash equivalents
  Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and 

on hand and short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less and bank overdrafts. 
Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the Statement of Financial 
Position. For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
consist of cash and short-term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

 3.17 Borrowing costs
  Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset 

that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are 
capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period 
in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in 
connection with the borrowing of funds.

 3.18 Share capital
  Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 

shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax from the proceeds. Where any 
Group company purchases the company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration 
paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from 
equity attributable to the company’s equity holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued. 
Where such shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly 
attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects is included in equity 
attributable to the company’s equity holders.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 3.19 Adoption of new and revised accounting standards
 

  i) New and amended standards and interpretations 
  The Group applied for the first time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The Group has not early adopted any other 
standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.

  Although these new standards and amendments applied for the first time in 2016, they did not have 
a material impact on the annual consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

 ii) Standards issued but not yet effective
  The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance 

of the Group’s financial statements that the Group reasonably expects will have an impact on 
its disclosures, financial position or performance when applied at a future date, are disclosed 
below. The Group intends to adopt these standards when they become effective. Standards and 
interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective, which do not have an impact to the 
Group have not been listed.

 IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative – Amendments to IAS 7
  The amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows are part of the IASB’s Disclosure Initiative 

and require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate 
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash 
flows and non-cash changes. On initial application of the amendment, entities are not required 
to provide comparative information for preceding periods. These amendments are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, with early application permitted. Application 
of amendments will result in additional disclosure provided by the Group.

  IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses – Amendments to IAS 12
  The amendments clarify that an entity needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources of 

taxable profits against which it may make deductions on the reversal of that deductible temporary 
difference. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance on how an entity should determine 
future taxable profits and explain the circumstances in which taxable profit may include the recovery 
of some assets for more than their carrying amount. Entities are required to apply the amendments 
retrospectively.  These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2017 with early application permitted. The Group does not expect these amendments to have a 
significant impact on the Group.

  IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
  In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments that replaces IAS 39 

and all previous versions of IFRS 9. IFRS 9 brings together all three aspects of the accounting for 
financial instruments project: classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. 
IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application 
permitted. Except for hedge accounting, retrospective application is required, but the provision of 
comparative information is not compulsory. For hedge accounting, the requirements are generally 

  applied prospectively, with some limited exceptions.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
 

 3.19 Adoption of new and revised accounting standards (continued)

 ii) Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

` 
 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
  The Group plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date. Other than disclosure, 

this standard is not expected to have a significant impact. 

 

 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
  IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising 

from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects 
the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or 
services to a customer.  The new revenue standard will supersede all current revenue recognition 
requirements under IFRS. Either a full retrospective application or a modified retrospective 
application is required for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Early adoption is 
permitted. The Group plans to adopt the new standard (including the clarifications issued by the 
IASB in April 2016) on the required effective date using the full retrospective method. Other than 
disclosure, this standard is not expected to have a significant impact. This assessment is based on 
the work completed to date and the Group’s current interpretation of IFRS 15 and may be subject 
to changes as more detailed analysis is completed and as interpretations evolve more generally.

 Other presentation and disclosure requirements
  IFRS 15 contains other presentation and disclosure requirements which are more detailed than 

the current Standards. The presentation requirements represent a significant change from current 
practice and will increase the volume of disclosures required in the Group’s financial statements. 
Many of the disclosure requirements in IFRS 15 are completely new. In 2016, the Group started 
to consider the new systems, internal controls, policies and procedures necessary to collect and 
disclose the required information.

 IFRS 16 Leases
  IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and it replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether 

an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the 
Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. IFRS 16 sets out the principles 
for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to 
account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar to the accounting for finance 
leases under IAS 17. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees – leases of 
’low-value’ assets (e.g., personal computers) and short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term 
of 12 months or less). At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability 
to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the 
underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). Lessees will be required to 
separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on 
the right-of-use asset.

  Lessees will be also required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events 
(e.g., a change in the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an 
index or rate used to determine those payments). The lessee will generally recognise the amount 
of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 3.19 Adoption of new and revised accounting standards (continued)

 ii) Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
 

 IFRS 16 Leases
  Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from today’s accounting under IAS 17. 

Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in IAS 17 and 
distinguish between two types of leases: operating and finance leases.

  IFRS 16 also requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under IAS 17 
 IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early application is 
permitted, but not before an entity applies IFRS 15. A lessee can choose to apply the standard using 
either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The standard’s transition provisions 
permit certain reliefs. In 2017, the Group plans to assess the potential effect of IFRS 16 on its 
consolidated financial statements.

  IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture – amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28

  The amendments address the conflict between IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 
28 in dealing with the loss of control of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or 
joint venture. The amendments clarify that the gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution 
of assets that constitute a business, as defined in IFRS 3, between an investor and its associate or 
joint venture, is recognised in full.

  Any gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that do not constitute a business, 
however, is recognised only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or joint 
venture. The IASB has deferred the effective date of these amendments indefinitely, but an entity 
that early adopts the amendments is required to apply them prospectively. This amendment is not 
expected to have an impact on the Group.

  IFRIC 22- Foreign currency translation and advance consideration 
  IFRIC 22 clarifies the accounting for transactions that include the receipt or payment of advance  

consideration in a foreign currency. The Interpretation covers foreign currency transactions when 
an entity recognises a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the payment or 
receipt of advance consideration before the entity recognises the related asset, expense or income. 
It does not apply when an entity measures the related asset, expense or income on initial recognition 
at fair value at the fair value of the consideration received or paid at a date other than the date of 
initial recognition of the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability.. IFRIC 22 is effective for 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, earlier application is permitted. On 
initial application, entities apply the interpretation either retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8 
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors; or prospectively to all foreign 
currency assets, expenses and income in the scope of the interpretation initially recognised on 
or after the beginning of the reporting period an entity first applies the interpretation in or the 
beginning of a prior reporting period presented as comparative information. The Group is assessing 
the impact of this interpretation. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont)
For the year ended 31 December 2016



RioZim Limited
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 6

63

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

  The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, 
assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities 
at the date of the consolidated financial statements. Estimates and assumptions are continually 
evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Uncertainty about these 
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

  In particular, the Group has identified the following areas where significant judgments, estimates 
and assumptions are required. Further information on each of these areas and how they impact 
the various accounting policies are described below and also in the relevant notes to the financial 
statements.

 4.1. Going concern
  The directors assess the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern at the end of each 

financial year. The assessment involves making assumptions in the budgets and forecasts. Refer to 
note 34 for more details.

 4.2. Ore reserve and mineral resource estimates
  Ore reserves are estimates of the amount of ore that can be economically and legally extracted from 

the Group’s mining properties. The Group estimates its ore reserves and mineral resources based 
on information compiled by appropriately qualified persons relating to the geological and technical 
data on the size, depth, shape and grade of the ore body and suitable production techniques and 
recovery rates. Such an analysis requires complex geological judgments to interpret the data. The 
estimation of recoverable reserves is based upon factors such as estimates of foreign exchange 
rates, commodity prices, future capital requirements and production costs along with geological 
assumptions and judgments made in estimating the size and grade of the ore body. The Group 
estimates and reports ore reserves in line with the principles contained in the Australasian Code 
for Reporting Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (December 2012), which is 
prepared by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee (JORC) of the Australasian Institute of Mining and 
Metallurgy, Australian Institute of Geoscientists and Minerals Council of Australia, known as the 
“JORC Code.” The JORC Code requires the use of reasonable investment assumptions, including:

	 •	 	Future	 production	 estimates	—	 which	 include	 proved	 and	 probable	 reserves,	 resource	
estimates and committed expansions.

	 •	 	Expected	future	commodity	prices,	based	on	current	market	price,	forward	prices	and	the	
Group’s assessment of the long-term average price.

	 •	 Future	cash	costs	of	production,	capital	expenditure	and	rehabilitation	obligations.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS    
 (continued)

 4.2.   Ore reserve and mineral resource estimates (continued) 
  Consequently, management will form a view of forecast sales prices, based on current and long-

term historical average price trends. For example, if current prices remain above long-term 
historical averages for an extended period of time, management may assume that lower prices will 
prevail in the future. As a result, those lower prices would be used to estimate reserves under the 
JORC Code. Lower price assumptions generally result in lower estimates of reserves. 

  As the economic assumptions used may change and as additional geological information is 
produced during the operation of a mine, estimates of reserves may change. Such changes may 
impact the Group’s reported financial position and results which include:

	 •	 	The	carrying	value	of	exploration	and	evaluation	assets,	mine	properties,	property,	plant	
and equipment, and goodwill may be affected due to changes in estimated future cash 
flows.

	 •	 	Depreciation	and	amortisation	charges	 in	profit	or	 loss	may	change	where	charges	are	
determined using the useful life of the related assets.

	 •	 	Provisions	for	rehabilitation	and	environmental	provisions	may	change	where	changes	to	
the reserve estimates affect expectations about when such activities will occur and the 
associated cost of these activities.

	 •	 	The	 recognition	 and	 carrying	 value	 of	 deferred	 income	 tax	 assets	 may	 change	 due	 to	
changes in the judgments regarding the existence of such assets and in estimates of the 
likely recovery of such assets.

 4.3.  Exploration and evaluation expenditure 
  The application of the Group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure requires 

judgment to determine whether future economic benefits are likely, from either future exploitation 
or sale, or whether activities have not reached a stage that permits a reasonable assessment of 
the existence of reserves. The determination of a JORC resource is itself an estimation process 
that involves varying degrees of uncertainty depending on how the resources are classified (i.e., 
measured, indicated or inferred). The estimates directly impact when the Group defers exploration 
and evaluation expenditure. The deferral policy requires management to make certain estimates 
and assumptions about future events or circumstances, in particular, whether an economically 
viable extraction operation can be established. Estimates and assumptions may change if new 
information becomes available. If, after expenditure is capitalised, information becomes available 
suggesting that the recovery of expenditure is unlikely, the amount capitalised is written off in profit 
or loss in the period when the new information becomes available. Refer to note 16 for the carrying 
amount of exploration, evaluation and development assets. 

 
 4.4. Depreciation 
  The Group’s management determines the useful lives, residual values and related depreciation 

charges for its property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on projected lives of these 
assets. Estimated economically recoverable reserves are used in determining the depreciation 
and/or amortisation of mine specific assets. This results in a depreciation/amortisation charge 
proportional to the depletion of the anticipated production over the remaining life of mine. Each 
item’s life, which is assessed annually, has regard to both its physical life limitations and present 
assessments of economically recoverable reserves of the mine property at which the asset is 
located. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions, including the amount 
of recoverable reserves and estimates of future capital expenditure. Changes in estimates 
are accounted for prospectively. Refer to note 15 for the carrying amount of property, plant and 
equipment and accounting policy note 3.4 for the useful lives of property, plant and equipment. 
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS    
 (continued)

 4.5. Mine rehabilitation provision 
  The Group assesses its mine rehabilitation provision at each reporting date. Significant estimates 

and assumptions are made in determining the provision for mine rehabilitation as there are 
numerous factors that will affect the ultimate amount payable. These factors include estimates 
of the extent and costs of rehabilitation activities, technological changes, regulatory changes, cost 
increases as compared to the inflation rates (0% (2015: 0%)), and changes in discount rates (11% 
(2015: 9%)). These uncertainties may result in future actual expenditure differing from the amounts 
currently provided. The provision at reporting date represents management’s best estimate of the 
present value of the future rehabilitation costs required. Refer to Note 25 for the carrying amount 
of the provision for mine rehabilitation. 

 4.6. Impairment of non-financial assets 
  The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be 

impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The recoverable amount is 
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset 
or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount. Management has assessed its CGUs as being individual mines, which is the 
lowest level for which cash inflows are largely independent of those of other assets

  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market 
transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate 
valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share 
prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators.

  The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which 
are prepared separately for each of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. 
These budgets and forecast calculations generally cover a period of five years and any cashflows 
beyond five years are based on the life-of-mine plans. 

  Impairment losses of continuing operations including impairment of inventories are recognised 
in the statement of profit or loss in expense category consistent with the function of the impaired 
asset.

  For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or 
have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable 
amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in 
the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss 
was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed 
its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is 
recognized in the statement of profit or loss.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS    
 (continued) 

 4.6.  Impairment of non-financial assets (continued) 
 The assumptions made in calculating the value in use include:
	 •	 A	forecast	period	of	ten	years.
	 •	 	Average	prices	for	the	next	ten	years:	Gold	-	US$1	200	per	ounce,	Nickel-	US$10	000	per	

ton, Copper -US$6 000 per ton.
	 •	 Discount	rate	of	11%	per	annum.
	 •	 Inflation	rate	of	0%	per	annum.
 
 4.7. Recovery of deferred tax assets 
  Judgment is required in determining whether deferred tax assets should be recognised in the 

statement of financial position. Deferred tax assets, including those arising from un-utilised tax 
losses, require management to assess the likelihood that the Group will generate sufficient taxable 
earnings in future periods, in order to utilise recognised deferred tax assets. Assumptions about 
the generation of future taxable profits depend on management’s estimates of future cash flows. 
These estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations (which 
are impacted by production and sales volumes, commodity prices, reserves, operating costs, 
closure and rehabilitation costs, capital expenditure and other capital management transactions) 
and judgment about the application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that 
future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the Group to 
realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the reporting date could be impacted. In addition, 
future changes in tax laws in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates could limit the ability of 
the Group to obtain tax deductions in future periods. Refer to Note 13 for the carrying amount of 
deferred tax asset recognised. 

 4.8. Inventories 
  Net realisable value tests are performed at each reporting date and represent the estimated future 

sales price of the product the entity expects to realise when the product is processed and sold, 
less estimated costs to complete production and bring the product to sale. Where the time value 
of money is material, these future prices and costs to complete are discounted. Stockpiles are 
measured by estimating the number of tones added and removed from the stockpile, the number 
of contained gold ounces is based on assay data, and the estimated recovery percentage is based 
on the expected processing method. Stockpile tonnages are verified by periodic surveys. Refer to 
Note 18 for the carrying amount of inventory.

   Empress Nickel Refinery (ENR) has metal inventory in various stages of production. In process 
metal inventory quantities are determined by estimating the volumes of metal bearing material in 
the plant and applying the estimated contained metal percentages determined through assaying 
techniques. Estimation of the volumes is carried out by the Group’s metallurgical department 
and assaying is done by the Chemists using methods that are believed to be appropriate for the 
different metals. The determination of both the volumes and the assays involves the exercise of 
significant professional judgments and the use of estimates.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS    
 (continued) 

 4.8 Inventories  (continued) 
  bonds issued during 2015-2016 were subscribed for yields of ranging from 5% per annum to 

10% per annum. A discount rate of 7% was therefore used. Other key assumptions for pension 
obligations are based in part on current market conditions.  Refer to Note 27 for the carrying 
amount of the defined benefit obligation and more information on the estimates and assumptions 
used. 

 4.9 Pension benefits
  The present value of the pension obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined 

on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net 
cost (income) for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions will impact 
the carrying amount of pension obligations. Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its 
long-term nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. 
All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date. In determining the appropriate discount rate, 
management considers the interest rates of corporate bonds in currencies consistent with the 
currencies of the post-employment benefit obligation.  IAS 19 requires that the discount rate is 
set based on the market yield on high quality corporate bonds, or government bonds. In countries 
where there is no deep market in such bonds, the market yields (at the end of the reporting period) 
on government bonds shall be used. Zimbabwe does not have an active liquid market for corporate 
bonds or government bonds. However, recent bonds issued during 2015-2016 were subscribed for 
yields of ranging from 5% per annum to 10% per annum. A discount rate of 7% was therefore used. 
Other key assumptions for pension obligations are based in part on current market conditions.  
Refer to Note 27 for the carrying amount of the defined benefit obligation and more information on 
the estimates and assumptions used. 

 4.10 Contingencies
  By their nature, contingencies will only be resolved when one or more uncertain future events 

occur or fail to occur. The assessment of the existence, and potential quantum, of contingencies 
inherently involves the exercise of significant judgment and the use of estimates regarding the 
outcome of future events. Refer to note 33

 4.11 Determination of material partly-owned subsidiaries
  The Group holds 50% interest in Sengwa Colliery (Private) Limited which is located in Gokwe North. 

RZ Murowa Holding (Private) Limited holds the remaining 50% interest. The Group has the majority 
representation on the board as well as the management contract.

  Furthermore, the Group’s approval is required for all operational decisions and based on this, 
management determined that in substance, the Group controls this entity with RZ Murowa Holding 
(Private) Limited constituting the non-controlling interest. Refer to Note 22 for the information on 
the material partly-owned subsidiaries. 
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS    
 (continued) 

 4.12 Joint Control
  Judgment is required to determine when the Group has joint control, which requires an assessment 

of the relevant activities and when the decisions in relation to those activities require unanimous 
consent. The Group has determined that the relevant activities for its  arrangement with  African 
Mineral Resources  and Management Services  International  (refer note 8)  relate to the operating 
and capital decisions of the arrangement, such as review and approval of operating policies, 
production and financial performance and budgets and projections. 

  The Group has concluded that the relevant activities of the arrangement are controlled by an 
‘Owner’s Council’ that has equal representation from all parties.  As a result the Group has 
classified the arrangement as a joint arrangement. 

  The classification of the joint arrangement as either a joint operation (JO) or joint venture (JV) also 
requires judgment. The Group assessed whether it has rights to the assets, and obligations for the 
liabilities, relating to the arrangement (JO) and whether the arrangement is structured through a 
separate vehicle in which the Group will have rights to the net assets of the arrangement (JV).

  The arrangement is not structured through a separate vehicle and based on the contractual terms 
of the arrangement the Group has concluded that it has rights to the assets and obligations of the 
joint arrangement. Therefore the joint arrangement has been classified as a JO.

 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont)
For the year ended 31 December 2016



RioZim Limited
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 6

69

5.  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

    Management has determined the Group’s operating segments based on the information reviewed by 
the Board for the purpose of allocating resources and assessing performance.  The revenue, operating 
profit, assets and liabilities reported to the Board are measured consistently with those in the reported 
consolidated financial statements.

       Gold segment 
   This operating segment develops and mines gold that is ultimately sold as gold bullion.

            Base metals segment
  This operating segment comprises of base metals refining facilities.
   
   The Group management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose 

of making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is 
evaluated based on operating profit or loss and is measured consistently with operating profit or loss in 
the consolidated financial statements. However, the Group’s financing (finance costs and finance income) 
and income taxes are managed on a Group basis and are not allocated to operating segments.

   Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to 
transactions with third parties.        Adjustments  

     Base  and    
   Gold  Metals  elimations  Consolidated
   US$ 000  US$ 000   US$ 000  US$ 000
   
 Year ended 31 December 2016 
 Revenue       
 External customers     63 000            2 218                        -  65 218 
 Total revenue     63 000            2 218                        -  65 218 
       
 Results       
 Depreciation (note 1)     (1 380 )    ( 853 )          (134 )   (2 367 )
 Amortisation of development
 costs (note 1)     (1 134 )     -                        -         (1 134 )
 Loss on sale of property, plant 
 and equipment             -     -                     (1 )                  (1 )
       
 Segment profit (note 2)     13 797           (1 031 )       (5 232 )      7 534 
 Net finance cost                   (5 436 )
 Share of associate loss                     ( 267 )
 Income tax credit                        718 
 Profit for the year                    2 549 
       
 Operating assets (note 3)     53 605          45 993               24 173  123 771 
 Operating liabilities (note 4)     16 518          42 667               60 573      119 758 
       
 Investment in an associate             -                   -                 3 360               3 360 
 Other disclosures       

 1. Represents depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of development costs.
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5.  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

   2.   Profit for each operating segment does not include finance income of US$70 000 and finance costs
   of US$5 506 000.
  3.  Segment assets do not include deferred tax assets of US$6 644 000, subsidiary assets of 
    US$2 199 000, and Head Office assets of US$15 330 000 as these assets are managed on a Group 

basis.
  4.   Segment liabilities do not include interest-bearing loans and borrowings of US$48 874 000 as these 

liabilities are managed on a Group basis.
  5.   Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment, mine properties, 

exploration, evaluation and development assets.

        Adjustments  
     Base  and    
   Gold  Metals  elimations  Consolidated
   US$ 000  US$ 000   US$ 000  US$ 000
   
 Revenue       
 External customers    44 652      11 837   -  56 489 
 Total revenue    44 652      11 837   -  56 489 
       
 Results       
 Depreciation (note 1) (703 ) (1 027 ) (343 ) (2 073 )
 Amortisation of development costs (note 1) (848 ) -   -  (848 )
 Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment -   -       5  5 
       
 Segment profit / (loss) (note 2)      5 283         (9 002 )      3 569  (150 )
 Net finance cost       (6 685 )
 Share of associate loss       (2 228 )
 Income tax credit            258 
 Loss for the year       (8 805 )
       
 Operating assets (note 3)  30 924    48 170    33 274  112 368 
 Operating liabilities (note 4)   29 927     56 554     24 189  110 670 
       
 Investment in an associate -   -     3 627  3 627 
 Other disclosures       
 Capital expenditure (note 5)    2 037      74   -     2 111 

 1. Represents depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of development costs.
 2.  Profit for each operating segment does not include finance income of US$92 000 and finance costs of 

US$6 777 000.
 3.  Segment assets do not include deferred tax assets of US$5 993 000, Subsidiary assets of US$858 000, 

and Head Office assets of US$26 535 000 as these assets are managed on a Group basis.
 4.  Segment liabilities do not include deferred tax liabilities US$66 000 and interest-bearing loans and 

borrowings of US$47 819 000 as these liabilities are managed on a Group basis.
 5.  Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment, mine properties, exploration, 

evaluation and development assets. 
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5.  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

        Geographic information and information about major customers
   All the Group’s operations are located in Zimbabwe and they are situated in two geographic locations, 

Masvingo Province and Mashonaland West Province. 

   Revenue from one customer in the gold segment amounted to US$63 000 000 (2015: US$44 652 000) and 
revenue from one customer in the base metals segment amounted to US$2 218 000 (2015:  US$9 432 
000).

  Revenues from external customers are based on the locations of the customers:
   The bulk of the base metals are purchased by the European market and gold is solely purchased by 

Fidelity Refineries and Printers (Private) Limited of Zimbabwe.

  2016  2015
  US$ 000 US$ 000

 Zimbabwe   63 000    44 652 
 External customers  
 
     Europe    2 218  11 837 
     
 Total revenue per consolidated statement of comprehensive income   65 218    56 489 

6.  REVENUE  
 
 Gold   63 000  44 652 
 Nickel -  244
 Copper -   2 025 
 PGM’s 2 218  9 432 
 Cobalt -   136 
 Total revenue   65 218    56 489 
   
7. OPERATING PROFIT   
 
 Operating profit is stated after (charging)/ crediting:   
 Employee benefits   
    - Salaries and Wages (15 426) (14 816)
    - Pension costs (1 418) (1 013)
    - Other (3 777) (2 859)
 Audit remuneration   
    - Current year (22) (22)
    - Prior year (128) (152)
 Exploration and claims costs (707) (477)
 Net interest cost on defined benefit fund (92) (89)
 Directors’ emoluments (184) ( 131)
 Minimum lease payments recognised as an operating lease expense (2 387) (1 661)
 Write down of inventory ( 66) (1 550)
 Depreciation (Note 15) (2 367) (2 073)
 Amortisation (Note 16) (1 134) (848)
 (Loss) / gain on sale of property, plant and equipment (1)    5 
 Net unrealised foreign exchange (loss)/gain (187)    600 
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8.  JOINT OPERATIONS
  
   RioZim entered into an agreement with African Mineral Resources (AMR) and Management Service 

International (MSI) to process tailings at Renco Mine. In this agreement, RioZim is the principal owner of 
the dumps (ore) and the later owns the processing plant.

   The arrangement is to share profits from the operation 51% to RioZim and 49% to AMR. AMR is the 
operator of the project.

 
  Summarised financial statement information (51% share) of the joint operation is as disclosed below:

    2016   2015
    US$ 000  US$ 000

 
 Revenue    1 706     1 763 
 Cost of sales  (1 082 ) (1 142 )
 Gross profit     624      621 
 Administrative expenses  (624 ) (568 )
 Profit before tax  -       53 
   
9.   OTHER INCOME   
 
 Income from rentals, clinic and clubs     203      206 
 Export Incentives   1 037   - 
 Realised exchange gains  -      9 
 Unrealised exchange gains  -      600 
 Priority fees from Joint Operation    610      265 
 Settlement discounts    1 563     8 688 
 Sundry income    1 298      216 
      4 711      9 984 

  The export incentives were introduced by Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe in 
 February 2016 and are paid to large scale gold producers at a rate of 
 2.5% of the gold proceeds.

 The settlement discounts arose from reversal of banks and creditors 
 balances on settlement.

10.  FINANCE INCOME   
 
 Interest income from other receivables     67      89 
 Interest income from short term investments     3      3 
     70       92 

11.  FINANCE COST   

 Interest on loans and borrowings    1 266     6 109 
 Interest on cumulative redeemable preference shares    3 039   - 
 Interest on fixed term payable     568      517 
 Unwinding of discount on mine rehabilitation provision     36      15 
 Interest on other payables     597      136 
      5 506      6 777 
 The average cost of debt for 2016 was 11% per annum (2015: 12%).
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12  INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE
  
  The Group has a 22.2% (2015: 22.2%) interest in Murowa Diamonds (Private) Limited, an unlisted diamonds 

mining company, operating in Zimbabwe.

  The Group’s interest in Murowa Diamonds (Private) Limited is accounted for using the equity method in 
the consolidated financial statements

 
  The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of Murowa Diamonds (Private) 

Limited:

    2016   2015
    US$ 000  US$ 000

 
  Associate’s statement of financial position:   
 Current assets    22 674     11 686 
 Non-current assets    42 682     36 958 
 Current liabilities  (43 322 ) (24 769 )
 Non-current liabilities   (11 917 ) (12 557 )
 Equity    10 117     11 318 
   
 Share of net assets    2 246     2 513 

 Reconciliation of carrying amount of investment of share of net assets:   
 Share of net assets    2 246     2 513 
 Impact of deemed cost on currency conversion    1 114     1 114 
 Carrying amount of the investment    3 360     3 627 

  The Company pledged its shareholding of 2 500 shares in Murowa 
 Diamonds (Private) Limited as security for a guarantee arrangement. 
 
 Summarised statement of profit or loss of Murowa Diamonds 
 (Private) Limited

 Revenue    47 446     34 674 
 Cost of sales  (26 937 )  (30 450 )
 Administrative and selling & distribution expenses  (14 920 ) (14 298 )
 Finance costs  (3 197 ) (1 702 )
 Loss before tax    2 392   (11 776 )
 Income tax  (expense)/credit  (3 595)    1 740 
 Loss for the year   (1 203)  (10 036 )
 Other comprehensive income  -   - 
 Total comprehensive loss  (1 203)  (10 036 )
   
 Group’s share of loss for the year  (267)  (2 228 )
   
 Carrying amount of the investment   
 At 1 January    3 627     5 855 
 Share of loss for the year  (267)  (2 228 )
 At 31 December     3 360      3 627 

  Investment in associate is accounted for at cost at company level at a value of US$ 8 041 000.
 This treatment is consistent with prior year.

  The Group has performed an impairment assessment of its investment in associate and concluded
           that the investment is not impaired.
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13  INCOME TAX 
  
 The major components of income tax expense are as follows:

    2016   2015
    US$ 000  US$ 000

 
 Consolidated statement of profit or loss 
 Current income tax:   
 Current income tax credit   -   - 
 Deferred tax:   
 
 Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences            (718 ) (258 )
 Income tax credit reported in the statement of profit or loss  (718 ) (258 )
   
 Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income (OCI)   
 Deferred tax related to items recognised in OCI during the year:   
 
 Fair value gains on available-for-sale investments                1     1 
 Income tax charged to OCI    1     1

  Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by 
 RioZim’s domestic tax rate for the years ended 31 December 2016 
 and 2015: 

 Profit/(Loss) before tax   1 831   (9 063 )
   
 At RioZim’s statutory income tax rate of 25.75% (2015: 25.75%)    472   (2 334)
 Tax effects of:   
 - Associate results reported net of tax    69     574 
 Non-deductible interest expense    1 208    1 646 
 -Other non-deductible expenses    927     695 
 Tax rate adjustment  -   (43)
 -Unrecognised tax losses   1 131   - 
 Utilisation of unrecognised tax losses  (3 807)  (569)
 -Non-taxable income  (764)  - 
 -Other    46   (227)
 Tax credit  (718)   (258)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont)
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13  INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)        
         
   
    2016  2015  2016  2015
    US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000
 
 Exploration and evaluation assets (3 853)  (3 964)  111      54 
 Property, plant and equipment (11 669)  ( 7 942)  (3 727)  (279)
 Other     58   (159)     217   (85)
 Available for sale investments  (14)  (10)  (4)  (1)
 Investment in associate  (185)   (182)  (3)     112 
 Losses available for offset against
 future taxable income 21 678    17 855    3 823   338 
 Provisions 629   329      301      119 
 Net deferred tax assets  6 644    5 927   
 Deferred tax income        718      258 
            
 Reflected in the consolidated 
 statement of financial position
 as follows:         
 Deferred tax assets  6 644   5 993     
 Deferred tax liabilities -   (66)    
 Deferred tax asset  (net)  6 644   5 927     
            
 Reconciliation of deferred tax asset, net         
 Opening 1 January  5 927   5 670     
 Tax income during the period recognised
 in profit or loss 718      258     
 Tax charge during the period
 recognised in OCI (1)  (1)    
 Closing balance as at 31 December  6 644     5 927 

Consolidated statement of
financial position

Consolidated statement of
comprehensive income

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont)
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13  INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)
  
  Deferred income tax assets are recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses to the extent that it 

is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.

 The Company has a deferred income tax asset amounting to US$6 418 000 (2015: US$5 981 000) 

 Tax losses
  The Group has a balance relating to an estimated tax loss for normal tax purposes for which no deferred 

tax asset has been recognised, due to uncertainty regarding the probability of future taxable profits. 
Unrecognised tax losses are carried forward indefinitely. The unrecognised tax losses are as follows:

    2016   2015
    US$ 000  US$ 000

 
 Accumulated tax losses    101 407     88 516 
 Recognised tax losses for which a deferred tax asset has been recognised (84 187 ) (69 340 )
 Unutilised tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised   17 220      19 176 

  Based on the established business plans and strategies, the Group is being restructured into five resource 
specific subsidiaries and this exercise will result in the utilisation of the tax losses.  The strategy will see 
transfer of assets at fair value to the subsidiaries resulting in recoupment that will be used to set off 
against the tax losses.  The restructuring exercise is in the finalisation stages.

14  EARNINGS PER SHARE
 
  Basic profit/(loss) per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit/(loss) attributable to the 

ordinary equity holders of the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year excluding treasury shares.

 
  Diluted profit/ (loss) per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to the ordinary 

equity holders of the Group after adjusting for impact of dilutive instruments.
 
  Headline profit/(loss) per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit/(loss) attributable to 

ordinary equity holders of the Group adjusted for profits, losses and items of capital nature that do not 
form part of the ordinary activities of the Group.

 
 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont)
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14  EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)
 
 The following reflects the income and share data used in the earnings per share computations:

    2016   2015
    US$ 000  US$ 000

 Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the parent for basic earnings   2 594   (8 713 )
   
 Adjustment for headline earnings / (loss)   
 Losses/(gains) on disposal of property, plant and equipment     1   (5 )
 Headline earnings / (loss)   2 595   (8 718 )
   
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares for earnings/(loss) per share   
 Number of issued shares  ‘000  ‘000
   
 At as 31 December     122 030     122 030 
   
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares     122 030     81 974 
   
 Earnings/(loss) per share (cents)   
 Basic                       2.13                       (10.63)
 Diluted basic                       2.13                       (10.63)
 Headline                        2.13                       (10.64)
 Diluted Headline                        2.13                       (10.64)

  There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the 
reporting date and the date of authorisation of these financial statements.

15  PROPERTY, PLANTS AND EQUIPMENT
      Capital
    Land and  plant and  work in  Motor  Furniture    
  Group buildings  equipment  progress  vehicles  and fittings  Total
  Cost US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000
   
  At 1 January 2015    25 090     17 331   -     2 025      527     44 973 
   Additions  -      471      496      147      186     1 300 
   Disposals  -   -   -   (14 ) -   (14 )
   At 31 December 2015    25 090     17 802      496     2 158      713     46 259 
   Additions    1 305     2 481     13 447      236      123     17 592 
   Transfers     52     12 461   (12 813 )    145      155   - 
  Disposals  -   (51 ) -   (902 ) (2 ) (955 )
  At 31 December 2016    26 447     32 693     1 130     1 637      989     62 896 
      
   Accumulated Depreciation        
  At 1 January 2015    1 519     7 608   -     1 745      351     11 223 
   Depreciation charge for 
  the year     495     1 366   -      150      62     2 073 
   Disposals  -   -   -   (14 ) -   (14 )
  At 31 December 2015    2 014     8 974   -     1 881      413     13 282 
  Depreciation charge 
  for the year     496     1 563   -      189      119     2 367 
  Disposals  -   (17 )  -  (871 ) (1 ) (889 )
    At 31 December 2016    2 510     10 520   -     1 199      531     14 760 
      
  Net book value       
  At 31 December 2015    23 076     8 828      496      277      300     32 977 
  At 31 December 2016    23 937     22 173     1 130      438      458     48 136 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont)
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15  PROPERTY, PLANTS AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
    Capital
  Land and  plant and  work in  Motor  Furniture    
 Company buildings  equipment  progress  vehicles  and fittings  Total
 Cost US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000
   
 At 1 January 2015    26 524     17 315   -     2 025      510     46 374 
  Additions  -      471      496      147      186     1 300 
 Disposals  -   -   -   (14 ) -   (14 )
 At 31 December 2015    26 524     17 786      496     2 158      696     47 660 
  Additions     5     2 481     13 447      236      123     16 292 
  Transfers    52     12 461   (12 813 )    145      155   - 
  Disposals  -   (   51 )  -  (902 ) (2 ) (955 )
  At 31 December 2016    26 581     32 677     1 130     1 637      972     62 997 
      
 Accumulated Depreciation        
 At 1 January 2015    3 111     7 592   -     1 742      337     12 782 
  Depreciation charge for
 the year    468    1 366   -     150     62     2 046 
  Disposals  -   -   -   (14 ) -   (14 )
 At 31 December 2015    3 579     8 958   -     1 878      399     14 814 
 Depreciation charge for
 the year     485     1 563   -      189      117     2 354 
  Disposals  -   (17 ) -   ( 871 ) (1 )  (889 )
  At 31 December 2016    4 064     10 504   -     1 196      515     16 279 
      
 Net book value       
 At 31 December 2015    22 945     8 828      496      280      297     32 846 
  At 31 December 2016    22 517     22 173     1 130      441      457     46 718 

  Group depreciation expense of US$1 598 000 (2015: US$1 676 000) has been charged in ’cost of sales’ 
and  US$769 000 (2015: US$397 000) in ’administrative expenses’.

 
16  EXPLORATION, EVALUATION AND DEVELOPMENT ASSETS     
        Total exploration,  
        evaluation and 
    Exploration and  Development  development   
    evaluation assets  costs  assets
 Group US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000
   
 Cost   
 At 1 January 2015   6 411     9 756     16 167 
 Additions -      811      811 
 At 31 December 2015   6 411     10 567     16 978 
 Additions -      706      706 
 At 31 December 2016   6 411     11 273                         17 684 
   
 Amortisation   
 At 1 January 2015 -      737      737 
 Amortisation for the year -     848      848 
 At 31 December 2015 -     1 585     1 585 
 Amortisation for the year     1 134     1 134 
 At 31 December 2016 -     2 719                            2 719 
   
 Carrying amount    
  At 31 December 2015    6 411     8 982     15 393 
 At 31 December 2016    6 411     8 554                         14 965 
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16  EXPLORATION, EVALUATION AND DEVELOPMENT ASSETS (CONTINUED)
          
        Total exploration,  
        evaluation and 
    Exploration and  Development  development   
    evaluation assets  costs  assets
 Company US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000
   
 Cost   
 At 1 January 2015   6 411     9 029     15 440 
 Additions -      811      811 
 At 31 December 2015   6 411     9 840     16 251 
 Additions -      706      706 
 At 31 December 2016   6 411     10 546     16 957 
   
 Amortisation   
 At 1 January 2015 -      737      737 
 Amortisation for the year -      848      848 
 At 31 December 2015 -     1 585     1 585 
 Amortisation for the year     1 134     1 134 
 At 31 December 2016 -     2 719     2 719 
   
  Carrying amount    
  At 31 December 2015    6 411     8 255     14 666 
  At 31 December 2016    6 411     7 827     14 238 

  The exploration and evaluation assets consist of capitalised costs for work done on the Group’s One Step 
Ore resource. There are plans to mine the resource profitably in the future.

17  INVESTMENTS        
 
 17.1 Available for sale investments        
 
   2016  2015  2016  2015
   US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000
   
 At 1 January    205      196   205  196 
 Fair value adjustment   (3 )   9   (3 )    9 
 At 31 December      202      205     202  205 

  The available for sale investments comprise of the Group’s investment of 1.553% in a medical investment 
company and investments in a boat syndicate. 

   The investment in the medical company which is non-listed is carried at fair value. The value of the 
investment is based on non-market observable information.  

Group Company
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17  INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)        
 
 17.2 Investment in subsidiaries        
 
    2016  2015  2016  2015
    US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000
 Shares at cost (all 100% held
 unless indicated otherwise)   
 Sengwa Colliery (Private) Limited (50%)  -   -     81  81 
 RioZim Base Metals (Private) Limited  -   -    55    55 
 RioChrome Limited  -   -     12     12 
 RioGold (Private) Limited  -   -  -  - 
 RioZim Management Services (Private) Limited  -   -   2     2 
 Rio Tinto Properties Limited  -   -  15     15 
 RioZim Base Metals Holdings (Private) Limited  -   -  -  - 
 RioZim Development Limited  -   -  -  - 
 RM Enterprises (Private) Limited  -   -  -  - 
 RioDiamonds (Private) Limited  -   -  -  - 
 Rutala Mine (Private) Limited   -   -  -  - 
 Sengwa Power Station (Private) Limited   -   -  -  - 
 RioEnergy (Private) Limited  -   -   1  1 
  As at 31 December   -    -  166                166 
 
 17.3 Held to maturity investments

 As at 1 January   1 189     8    1 189  8 
 Additions    3     1 181      3  1 181 
 Disposal (506 ) -   (506)  - 
 Reclassified to loans and receivables (686 ) -   (686)  - 
 As at 31 December  -      1 189   -   1 189 

 The held to maturity investments consist of treasury bills which were reclassified to long term receivables.

 17.4 Long term receivables
 
 As at 1 January  -  -  -  - 
 Reclassified from held to maturity 686  -  686  - 
 As at 31 December   686   -   686   - 

  The long term receivables consist of treasury bills which were issued in 2014 and 2015. These treasury 
bills are maturing in 2018 and accrue interest at 5% (2015: 8%) per annum.

Group Company
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19. RECEIVABLES     

 19.1 Trade and other receivables        
 
    2016  2015  2016  2015
    US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000
   
 Trade receivables  106  949  106   949 
 Other receivables and prepayments 4 836    4 733  6 876   6 463 
    4 942    5 682    6 982    7 412 

  Trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 30 days to 120 days. 
These terms are normal in the mining industry and hence the trade receivables carrying amount is 
considered equal to fair value 

  As at 31 December 2016, the analysis of trade and other receivable that were neither past due nor 
impaired is as follows:

Group Company

 
  In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group performs a risk analysis considering 

the type and age of the outstanding receivable and the creditworthiness of the counterparty. Outstanding 
customer receivables are regularly monitored.

 There were no doubtful debts at the reporting date and therefore all receivables are recoverable.

  The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of all  
receivables mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security. 

  See note 29 (b) on credit risk of trade receivables, which explains how the Group manages and measures 
credit quality of trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired.

      Neither    
      past due            
      nor    30-60  61-90  91-120  >120 
    Total  imapired  <30 days  days  days  days  days
    US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000
   
 2016   4 942     4 942   -  -  -  -   - 
 2015   5 682     5 682   -  -  -  -   - 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont)
For the year ended 31 December 2016

18. INVENTORIES
 

    2016  2015  2016  2015
    US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000

 Stores and consumables   8 127   6 567   8 127  6 567 
 Metals and minerals in concentrates 
 and circuit 33 585   34 340  33 585  34 340 
 Finished metals   1 989    302    1 989  302 
      43 701   41 209   43 701  41 209 

  During 2016, US$7 200 000 (2015: US$15 437 000) was recognised as an expense for inventories. This is 
recognised in cost of sales. Inventory amounting to US$66 000 (2015: US$1 550 000) was written down in 
the current year.

Group Company
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19.  RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)        
 
 19.2 Derivative financial assets
  The Group has Quotational Period derivative assets. The Group has entered into provisional pricing sales 

arrangement with some of its metals in concentrates customers. Final settlement value is based on final 
dry weight, agreed assays and final prices which are determined at the end of the Quotational period 
which is usually sixty (60) days after date of shipment.  The Quotational period is the period after the 
physical shipment of goods during which the price and grade of minerals sold is subject to change due 
to fluctuations in commodity prices and also upon testing by the counterparty of the mineral content. The 
fair value of Quotational period (QP) derivatives as at 31 December 2016 is US$Nil (2015: US$241 000). 

 
  The change in the fair value of these QP derivatives of US$Nil (2015: US$241 000 gain) has been recognised 

in the profit or loss during the year as part of revenue.

   2016  2015  2016  2015
   US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000
   
 Quotational Period Derivatives -     241   -    241 
       
   -      241   -     241 

20.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
     
 Cash at bank and on hand    1 134     5 852     1 133    5 851 
 Cash and cash equivalents   1 134     5 852     1 133    5 851 

21.    SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
 
 

Group Company
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             2016  2015
 No. of shares Nominal value No. of shares Nominal value
 000 US$000 000 US$000

21.1.1 Authorised share capital     
   
Ordinary shares of US$0.01 each 140 000  1 400  150 000  1 500 
Cumulative redeemable preference
shares of US$0.01 each  10 000   100  -  - 
Special Dividend Share of a 
nominal value of US$124 876  0.001    125             0.001    125 
Total  150 000    1 625   150 000    1 625 
     
21.1.2 Issued share Capital     
Ordinary shares of US$0.01 each  122 030   1 220    122 030   1 220 
Cumulative redeemable preference 
shares of US$0.01 each 10 000   100  -  - 
Special Dividend Share of a nominal
value of US$124 876  0.001    125        0.001  125 
Total 132 030    1 445    122 030    1 345 

21.1 Share capital
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21.    SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)
 
 21.1 Share capital (continued)
 
 Special dividend share
   Following the restructuring of the Group in 2004, RioZim Limited’s 12 487 582 ordinary shares were 

converted into one special dividend share. The holder of the special dividend share had a right to cash 
dividends of RioZim’s share in Murowa Dividends for a period of ten years ending  31 December 2013. The 
entitlement  to the special dividend  has lapsed and the special dividend share now  ranks equally with 
other ordinary shares but does not have voting rights. 

  Cumulative redeemable preference shares 
 The preference shares are debt instruments and are disclosed under long term liabilities in note 23.

   2016  2015  2016  2015
   US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000
   
  21.1.3 Issued share capital - equity     
 Share capital 1 345  1 345    1 345   1 345 
 Share premium   20 789   20 789  20 789   20 789 
 Issued share capital 22 134    22 134    22 134   22 134 

 21.2 Reserves  
 
 21.2.1 Available for sale reserve       
 At 1 January          145       137  145     137 
 Fair value gain on available for sale investment       (3 )        8    (3)               8 
 At 31 December          142     145      142   145 

 The available for sale reserve comprises
 the fair value adjustment of the Group’s
 investment in a private medical company. 

 The Group holds 136 000 ordinary shares
 of the medical company.

 21.2.2 Accumulated losses   
 Opening balance 1 January (19 955 ) (11 046 ) (15 219 ) (8 433 )
 Profit/(loss) for the year   2 594  (8 713 )   1 422   (6 590 )
 Other comprehensive loss (230 ) (196 ) (230 ) (196 )
 As at 31 December (17 591 ) (19 955 ) (14 027 ) (15 219 )

 22  MATERIAL PARTLY OwNED SUBSIDIARIES

  Financial information of subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests are provided below:
 Proportion of equity interest held by non-controlling interest.

        2016  2015
 
 Sengwa Colliery (Private) Limited     50%  50%

Group Company
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 22  MATERIAL PARTLY OwNED SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

  Financial information of subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests are provided below:
 Proportion of equity interest held by non-controlling interest.

       2016  2015
       US$ 000  US$ 000
 
 Accumulated balances of material non-controlling interest:

 Sengwa Colliery (Private) Limited     (671 ) (626 )
       
 Loss allocated to material non-controlling interest:      
       
 Sengwa Colliery (Private) Limited     (45 ) (92 )
 
 The summarised financial information of Sengwa Colliery (Private)
 Limited are provided below:

 Summarised statement of profit or loss       
       
 Other income        3  2 
 Administrative expenses     (315 ) (185 )
 Finance costs     -  - 
 Loss before tax     (312 ) (183 )
 Income tax             222    (1 )
 Loss for the year             (90 ) (184 )
 Other comprehensive income     -  - 
 Total comprehensive loss     (90)  (184 )
       
 Attributable to:       
   Equity holders of the parent             (45)  (92 )
   Non-controlling interests             (45)  (92 )
       
 Summarised statement of financial position as at 31 December
 Current assets        49  - 
 Non-current assets        640     643 
 Current liabilities     (2 152 ) (1 842 )
 Non-current liabilities        121  (53 )
 Total equity     (1 342 ) (1 252 )
 Attributable to:       
   Equity holders of the parent     (671 ) (626 )
   Non-controlling interests     (671 ) (626 )
 Summarised cashflow information for the year ended 31 December 
    
 Operating     (312 ) (183 )
 Working capital changes        312     183 
 Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents     -  - 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont)
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 23  CUMULATIVE REDEEMABLE PREFERENCE SHARES

   2016  2015  2016  2015
   US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000
   
 Non-Current Liabilities        
 Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares  33 434   -     33 434   - 

  The cumulative redeemable preference shares were issued to Zimbabwe Asset Management Corporation 
(Private) Limited (ZAMCO) on 22 January 2016. The preferences shares are unsecured, non-voting and 
non-tradable,they entitle the holder thereof to receive a fixed dividend of 9% per annum which dividend 
shall be payable on a bi-annual basis and are redeemable by the Company in part or in whole, at cost, on 
or before the fifth anniversary of the issue date or not more than 180 days from the fifth anniversary of 
the issue date. 

  The cumulative redeemable preference shares are carried at amortised cost.

 24  INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROwINGS
 
 Group
   Effective
    interest    2016  2015
    rate %  Maturity  US$ 000  US$ 000

           Current    
 Bank loans  (facility limit (US$4.5million
 (2015: US$4.5million)) 11%  On scheduled   1 990     2 122
      dates    
 Other bank loans   15%  On demand    4 996     4 158 
 Term loans (facility limits (US$2million 
 (2015: US$1million)) 12%  On demand    1 383      875 
 Debentures (facility limit (US$1.9million
 (2015: US$2.9million)) 13%  March 2017    1 440     2 974 
 Interest on cumulative redeemable
 preference shares               -    January 2017    1 423   - 
 Short term portion of long term loan
 (Centametal AG) 12.5%  December 2019     875      773 
          12 107     10 902 

           Non-current    
 Term loans 12%  October 2017  -     494 
 Bank loans 11%  On scheduled dates    1 219   - 
 Long term loan (ZAMCO) 9%  January 2021  -     33 434 
 Long term loan (Centametal AG) 12.5%  December 2019    2 114     2 989 
          3 333     36 917 

Group Company
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24  INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROwINGS (CONTINUED)

           Company  

    Effective
    interest    2016  2015
    rate %  Maturity  US$ 000  US$ 000

           Current    
 Bank loans  (facility limit (US$4.5million 
 (2015: US$4.5million)) 11%  On scheduled   1 990     2 122 
      dates  
  Other bank loans   15%  On demand    4 996     4 158 
 Term loans (facility limits (US$2million
 (2015: US$1million)) 12%  On demand    1 383      875 
 Debentures (facility limit (US$1.9million
 (2015: US$2.9million)) 13%  March 2017    1 440     2 974 
 Interest on cumulative redeemable 
 preference shares               -    January 2017    1 423   - 
 Short term portion of long term loan 
 (Centametal AG) 12.5%  December 2019     875      773 
          12 107     10 902 

           Non-current    
 Term loans 12%  October 2017  -      494 
 Bank loans 11%  On scheduled dates    1 219   - 
 Long term loan (ZAMCO) 9%  January 2021  -     33 434 
 Long term loan (Centametal AG) 12.5%  December 2019    2 114     2 989 
          3 333     36 917 

  As at 31 December 2015, the amount owing to ZAMCO was transferred to a long term loans pending 
issuance of preference shares which was done in January 2016 as explained in note 23.

           Security
  The debentures are secured by a cross company guarantee in a subsidiary company, RioGold (Private) 

Limited.

  Bank loans of US$505 000 are secured by treasury bills. All other interest bearing loans and borrowings 
are unsecured.

           Centametall loan
  This loan is repayable in equal monthly instalments of US$100 000 commencing on 1 July 2014 ending 

December 2019. The loan is interest free and is unsecured. 

  The outstanding amount as at 31 December 2016 was US$3 600 000 (31 December 2015: US$ 4 800 000) 
and has been recorded at amortised value of US$2 989 000 (2015: US$3 762 000) using interest rate of 
12.5% p.a.

  Total interest expense for the year on interest-bearing loans and borrowings is US$5 506 000 (2015: US$6 
777 000).
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   2016  2015  2016  2015
   US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000
   
 Balance as at 1 January  332      172      332  172 
 Unwinding of discount 36      15      36  15 
 Capitalised to property, plant and equipment  864   -      864   - 
 Recognised in profit or loss (59)     145   (59)     145 
 Balance at 31 December  1 173      332     1 173  332 
 
 Rehabilitation provision

  The Group makes full provision for the future cost of rehabilitating mine sites and related production 
facilities on a discounted basis from the time of developing the mines and installing and using those 
facilities. The rehabilitation provision represents the present value of rehabilitation costs relating to mine 
sites, which are expected to be incurred over the useful life of the mine. These provisions have been 
created based on RioZim’s internal estimates. 

  Assumptions based on the current economic environment have been made, which directors believe are 
a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the future liability. These estimates are reviewed regularly to 
take into account any material changes to the assumptions.

  However, actual rehabilitation costs will ultimately depend upon future market prices for the necessary 
rehabilitation works required that produce at economically viable rates. This, in turn, will depend upon 
future gold prices, which are inherently uncertain.

       2016  2015
       US$ 000  US$ 000
 The provision was calculated using the following assumptions:  
 Inflation rate      3%  0%
 Life of mine - Renco mine (years)          12.1  11.4 
 Life of mine - Cam & Motor (years)           7.4  8.0 
 Interest rate      11%  9%
 Future value closure costs  (US$000)       3 985  485 
 Present value recognised in Statement of Financial Position (US$000)   1 173  332 

26  PAYABLES
   
   2016  2015  2016  2015
   US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000

 26.1 Trade and other payables        
 Trade payables   46 650     45 610     46 650  45 610 
 Accruals   2 702     1 213     2 642  1 153 
 Leave  pay liabilities   2 604     2 453   2 609  2 453 
 Statutory liabilities   5 214     4 084     5 203  4 073 
 Other payables   4 664     2 105    5 010  2 319 
     61 834     55 465     62 114   55 608 

  Other payables include amounts due for corporate services and consultancy which are not included in 
trade payables 

Group Company
25  MINE REHABILITATION PROVISION 

Group Company
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   2016  2015  2016  2015
   US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000
   
 26.2 Fixed term payable        
 Fixed term loan -MIPF   6 603     6 035     6 603   6 035 
 Total   6 603     6 035     6 603    6 035 

 The fixed term payable incurs interest at the rate of 9% per annum compounded monthly.

 The accrued interest as at 31 December 2016 is US$1 991 000 (2015: US$1 424 000).

27  PENSION AND OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLANS

  Pension’s benefits are provided for all employees through the Mining Industry Pension Fund, NSSA and 
RioZim Pension Fund. Both the employer and employees contribute to the funds.

 Description of the pensions and other post-employment benefit plans
 
 The Mining Industry Pension Fund is a defined contribution fund.

  The company and all employees also contribute to the National Social Security Authority, a social security 
scheme. The National Social Security Authority Scheme was promulgated under the NSSA Act 1989. The 
Group’s obligations under the scheme are limited to specific contributions as legislated from time to time 
and are presently 3.5% of pensionable emoluments per month for each employee up to a maximum of 
US$700 per month per employee. 

 RioZim Pension Fund (Defined benefit plan)

  The Company operates a defined benefit plan for some of the permanent pensionable employees. The 
plan is a funded final salary pension plan. The level of benefits provided depends on members’ length of 
service and their salary at retirement or earlier death or termination from employment. The fund has the 
legal form of a foundation and it is governed by the Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees consists 
of employer and employee representatives and is responsible for the administration of the plan assets 
and for the definition of the investment strategy.  The fund is actuarially valued every year and the last 
valuation was done in February 2017 for the position as at 31 December 2016. 

  The following tables summarise the components of net benefit expense recognised in the statement of 
other comprehensive income and the funded status. Changes in defined benefit obligations and fair value 
of plan assets and amounts recognised in the statement of financial position for the respective plans:

      

Group Company

26  PAYABLES (CONTINUED)
  
  Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities are in the ordinary course of business:
 Trade payables are generally non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30- 90 day terms.
 Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average terms of 30-90 days.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont)
For the year ended 31 December 2016
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   2016  2015  2016  2015
   US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000
   
         
 Prescribed assets & approved holdings    115      109    115     109 
 Money market    9      71      9     71 
 Guaranteed fund -      5   -     5 
 Equity instruments     331      422     331     422 
 Property    4 243     4 243     4 243    4 243 
 Property Unit Trusts    8      11      8     11 
 Cash and cash equivalents    40      72      40     72 
 Other     630      884      630     884 
 Total    5 376      5 817     5 376    5 817 

  A significant proportion of the plan assets is invested in property market (79%) and the plan assets can 
be negatively affected by a significant fall in the property market. 

  Pension plan assets include shares in the company’s ordinary shares of 351 224 (2015: 351 224) which are 
valued at 31 December 2016 at US$105 367 (2015: US$36 527).

  Effect of the defined benefit plan on the entity’s future cash flows
 Expected contributions to post-employment benefit for the year ending 31 December 2017 are US$7 812.

 The average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at the reporting period is 8.5 years.

 Key assumptions and quantitative sensitivity analysis
  The cost of the defined benefit pension plan and other post-employment medical benefits and the present 

value of the pension obligation are determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves 
making various assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future. These include the 
determination of the discount rate, future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases. 
Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a defined benefit obligation is 
highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.

  The parameter most subject to change is the discount rate. In determining the appropriate discount 
rate, management considers the interest rates of corporate bonds in currencies consistent with the 
currencies of the post-employment benefit obligation.

  The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables. Those mortality tables tend to change 
only at intervals in response to demographic changes. The retirement mortality of Zimbabwean schemes 
follow the A24/29 mortality table and this has been used in the assumptions.

 Mortality rates used for pre-retirement are consistent with the experience of the actuarial company.   

 Pensioner’s post retirement mortality was assumed to be in line with the A (55) Ultimate mortality tables.

 Future salary increases and pension increases are based on expected future inflation rate.

 

      

Group Company

27  PENSION AND OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED)
 
 The major categories of plan assets and the fair values of the total plan assets are as follows:
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27  PENSION AND OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED)

       2016  2015
       US$ 000  US$ 000
   
 The key assumptions and their sensitivity analysis are 
 discussed further below:        
 Discount rate      7%  7%
 Inflation rate     2%  3%
 Future salary increase      2%  3%
 Return on plan asset     2%  7%
 Future pension increase      2%  2%

 A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions as at 31 December 2016 is as shown below:

      
  1%  1%  1%  1%  1%  1%
  increase  decrease  increase  decrease  increase  decrease 
 Sensitivity level US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000
   
  Impact on defined
  benefit obligation (537)    625     2   (2)    244   (256)
 
  The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions has been calculated 

using the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit 
credit method at the end of the reporting period) used when calculating the pension liability recognised 
within the statement of financial position.

  The sensitivity analysis are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions 
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated.

          
              
              
          Management  Amount  Amount
  Contributions  Purchases  Services  Loans  fees  owed by  owed to
  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000
   
 Associate       
 Murowa Diamonds (Private) Limited    
                2016 -              -           754         1 000   -        690     497 
                2015 -            15           153   -   -           8     15 
 Shareholders       
 GemRioZim Investments Limited    
                2016           -     360   -   -      604   -         1 747 
                2015           -     303   -   -      887   -            728 
 RioZim Pension Fund      
                2016         1 1  -   -  -   -   -               5 
                2015         1 1  -  -   -   -   -            4 
 Directors fees       
               2016 -     184   -   -   -   -           102 
               2015 -     131   -   -   -   -             51 

  

Discount rate Salaries Life expectancy

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont)
For the year ended 31 December 2016
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28  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

  *Amounts owed by related parties are included in trade and other receivables in the consolidated statement 
of financial position.

 ^Amount owed to related parties are included in trade and other payables and interest bearing loans    
 and  borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position.

 Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

 Transactions with Murowa
  The loan from Murowa Diamonds (Private) Limited had a tenure of 6 months and was rolled over to 

September 2017. The loan is at an interest rate of 12.5% per annum and the balance as at 31 December 
2016 of US$497 000 (2015: Nil) is disclosed in current term loans under loans and borrowings in note 24. 

  RioZim Limited provides administration services to Murowa Diamonds (Private) Limited under a 
service  level agreement which came into effect on 1 January 2016 and has a tenure of 5 years. These 
administrative  services include corporate in-house legal services, human resources consultation and 
management, corporate secretarial services, IT support services, procurement services, technical 
consultation and any other services as agreed to by the parties in writing. The fees under this agreement 
are 1.5% of turnover and are payable quarterly.

 Transactions with Gem RioZim Investments Limited
  Management fees are for advisory and consultation services which are rendered by GemRioZim Investments 

Limited.  The management fees are charged at 1% of the net turnover of RioZim Group including turnover 
from affiliate companies and recoveries for running expenses and subsistence fees. 

  All related party outstanding balances at the year-end are unsecured and interest free and settlement 
occurs in cash.

 Key management compensation
  Key management includes executive directors, members of the executive committee, the Company 

Secretary and Head of Internal Audit. The compensation paid or payable to key management for employee 
services is shown below:

       2016 2015
       US$ 000 US$ 000
   
 Salaries and other short term employee benefits       1 112        1 006 
 Post-employment benefits           33             26 
         1 145        1 032 

29.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
 

 29.1 Financial risk management and policies
  The Group’s principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise of redeemable preference 

shares, loans and borrowings and trade and other payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities 
is to finance the Group’s operations. The Group’s principal financial assets include trade and other 
receivables, and cash and short-term deposits that derive directly from its operations. The Group also 
holds long term receivables and available-for-sale investments and enters into derivative transactions.

  The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest 
rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and commodity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s 
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potentially adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Group
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29.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
 

 29.1 Financial risk management and policies (continued)
 
  Risk management is carried out by management under policies approved by the Board of Directors. 

Management identifies, evaluates and manages financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s 
operating units. The Board provides principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering 
specific areas such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, and investment of excess 
liquidity.

 (a) Market risk
  Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: interest rate risk, 
currency risk and commodity price risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include redeemable 
preference shares, loans and borrowings, deposits, available-for-sale investments long term receivables 
and derivative financial instruments. 

 (i) Foreign currency risk
  The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with 

respect to the South African Rand. Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s 
exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the Group’s operating 
activities (when revenue or expense is denominated in a different currency from the Group’s presentation 
currency).

  The Group policy is to adopt a non-speculative approach to manage risk while maximising profits. 
Exposure to exchange rate fluctuations is monitored by management. At 31 December 2016, if the United 
States Dollar had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the South African Rand with all other variables 
held constant, post-tax loss for the year would have been US$131 763 (2015: US$199 259) lower/US$107 
806 (2015: US$163 030) higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains on translation of 
South African Rand denominated trade payables. There is no impact on equity.

 
 (ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
  The Group has no significant interest bearing assets. The Group’s interest rate risk arises from borrowings. 

Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued 
at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

  The Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis. Various scenarios are simulated taking 
into consideration refinancing, renewal of existing positions and alternative financing. Based on these 
scenarios, the Group calculates the impact on profit and loss of a defined interest rate shift. For each 
simulation, the same interest rate shift is used for all currencies. The scenarios are run only for liabilities 
that represent the major interest-bearing positions.

 
  Based on the simulations performed, the impact on post-tax loss of a 1% shift would be a maximum 

decrease/increase of US$488 740 (2015: US$478 190). The simulation is done on an annual basis to verify 
that the maximum loss potential is within the limit given by the management. There is no impact on 
equity.

 (iii) Commodity price risk
  The Group is exposed to commodity price risk in relation to its products of gold, nickel, copper and PGMs 

whose prices are determined by international market forces.
  The table below summarises the impact of increase/decreases in the prices of the commodities on the 

Group’s post tax profit for the year. The analysis is based on the assumption that the commodities prices 
increase/decrease by 5% with all other variables held constant.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont)
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29.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
 

 29.1 Financial risk management and policies (continued)

 (iii) Commodity price risk (continued)         
       Impact on  Impact on 
       post tax  post tax 
       loss  loss 
       2016  2015
 Commodity     US$ 000  US$ 000
 
 Nickel                            1               18 
 Copper                             -             116 
 Cobalt                             -                 7 
 Gold                      3 075          2 272 
 Platinum                           26               99 
 Palladium                           67             297 
 Silver                             2                 8 
 Rhodium                             1                 8 
 There is no impact on equity.  
 
 (b) Credit risk
  Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or 

customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating 
activities (primarily trade receivables) and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks and 
financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions and other financial instruments. The Group’s cash 
equivalents and short term deposits are placed with high credit quality institutions. Approved short term 
investments and deposits are at variable interest rates and mature within one year. 

 Trade receivables
  Customer credit risk is managed through the Group’s established policy, procedures and controls relating 

to customer credit risk management. Credit quality of a customer is assessed based on an extensive 
credit rating and individual credit limits are defined in accordance with this assessment.

  Outstanding customer receivables are regularly monitored and an impairment analysis is performed at 
each reporting date on an individual basis for all customers. 

  The Group principally sells its gold bullion to one customer whilst its other metal products are sold to a 
number of customers. Management is of the view that there is a low risk of default due to the following 
reasons:

 a) The Group’s major customers are reputable companies which do not have any history of default.
 b)  As at 31 December the majority of balances were current and a large portion of the trade receivables 

was settled in January 2017. 
  Maximum exposure to credit risk
   The carrying amount of the financial assets included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial 

Position  represent the Group’s exposure to credit risk in relation to those assets. 

 (c) Liquidity risk
  Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the 

availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close 
out market position. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, management aims at 
maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available.
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    Less       Less  From  More
    than 1  From 1-3  More than  than 1  1-3  than 3 
    year  years  3 years  year  years  years
    US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000
   
 Assets        
 Cash and cash equivalents 1 134   -  -    5 852   -  -
 Trade and other receivables 4 942   -  -    5 682   -  -
 Loans and receivables -      686   -   -   -   - 
 Held to maturity investments -   -   -   -      3     1 186 
 Total 6 076      686   -     11 534      3     1 186 
        
 Liabilities        
 Cumulative redeemable  
 preference shares -   -     34 857   -   -   -  
 Trade and other payables 61 836   -   -     55 465   -   - 
 Fixed term payable 8 027   -   -     6 035   -   - 
 Interest bearing loans 
 and borrowings 11 647     2 916   -     10 902   -     36 917 
 Total 81 510     2 916     34 857     72 402   -     36 917 
        
 Liquidity gap (75 434 ) (2 230 ) (34 857 ) (60 868 )    3   (35 731 )

 The liquidity gap will be managed through cashflows from operations. 

 29.2 Capital risk management
  The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the ability to continue as a going concern 

in order to provide returns to shareholders and benefits to other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal 
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

  The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by 
total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including ‘current and non-current borrowings’ as 
shown in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position) less cash and bank. Total capital is calculated 
as ‘equity’ as shown in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position plus net debt. 

  During 2016, the Group’s strategy was to maintain a gearing ratio between 40% and 55% however due to the 
high cost of borrowing and operational challenges at Empress Nickel Refinery this was not achieved. 

2016 2015

29.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
 
 29.1 Financial risk management and policies (continued)

 (c) Liquidity risk (continued)
   The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial assets and liabilities in relevant maturity 

groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The 
liabilities include both interest and principal cash flows. The amounts disclosed in the table are the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
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   2016  2015  2016  2015
   US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000
   
         
 Total borrowings   48 874     47 819     48 874    47 819 
 Less cash and cash equivalent (1 134 ) (5 852 ) (1 133 ) (5 851 )
 Net debt   47 740     41 967     47 741    41 968 
 Total equity   4 014     1 698     8 249    7 060 
 Total capital   51 754     43 665     55 990    49 028 
 Gearing ratio (%)  92%  96%  85%  86%

 30.  FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
 
  Fair value of available for sale investments, trade receivables, derivative financial assets interest bearing 

borrowings and all other receivables and payables approximates their carrying amount. 

 30.1 Fair value hierarchy
  The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial 

instruments by valuation technique:

 Level 1 : quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
  
  Level 2 : other techniques for which all inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are 

observable either directly or indirectly.
  
 Level 3: techniques that use inputs that have significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not    
 based on observable market data. 

      

Group Company

29.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

  29.2 Capital risk management (continued)
 The gearing ratio as at 31 December was as follows:
 
 

 

 Recurring fair value measurements         
     Level 1  Level 2  Level 3 
     US$ 000  US$ 000  US$ 000
 
 2016      
 Available for sale investments   -   -  203
 Impact of level 3 measurements on 
 other Comprehensive Income           (2 )
     
 2015      
 Available for sale investments   -   -  205
 Derivative financial assets   -  241  - 
 Impact of level 3 measurements on 
 other Comprehensive Income           -    -    8

 30.2 Valuation techniques
 
 Derivative financial assets
  In 2015, the Group had Quotational Period derivative financial assets arising from provisional pricing 

sales arrangements which the Group entered into with some of its metals in concentrate customers. 
Final settlement value was based on final dry weight, agreed assays and final prices which were to be 
determined at the end of the Quotational Period, usually 60 days after date of shipment. The Quotational 
Period is the period after the physical shipment of goods during which the price and grade of mineral sold 
is subject to change due to fluctuations in commodity prices.
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 30.  FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
  
 30.2 Valuation techniques (continued)
 
 Derivative financial assets (continued)
   At 31 December 2016, the Group had derivative financial assets of Nil (2015: US$241 000).
  Description of valuation technique used and key inputs to valuation of the Quotational Period derivative 

assets.

 Typical of   Fair value as  Valuation  Significant
 financial instrument   at 31 December  technique  inputs
    2016 2015  
    $ 000 $ 000
 
 Quotational Period Derivatives  - 241  DCF  Estimated future  
          commodity prices.
         Quantities and final   
         assays

 Available for sale investments 
  The fair value of the available for sale investments has been determined using the net asset value 

(NAV) of the investee.  Management has evaluated and believes that NAV provides the most reliable and 
reasonable fair value after taking into account of the information available, the nature and operations of 
the investee and the purpose of the Group’s investment in the investee.

  The shares of the investee are not publicly traded and there are no other similar companies in the same 
market whose shares are publicly traded. Furthermore the investee does not have a history of declaring 
dividends. The Group does not have access to the investee’s future plans and budgets given the size of its 
shareholding in the investee.  After considering the above factors and the materiality of the investment, 
management believes that NAV gives the best estimate of the investment’s fair value. 

 Below is the financial information of the investee that was used to calculate the fair value.
       2016  2015
       US$ 000  US$ 000
 Total assets        18 383  18 462 
 Total liabilities      (7 311 ) (7 300 )
 Net asset value        11 072  11 162 
 Fair value of investment (1.553% )         171  173

31.  COMMITMENTS
 
 31.1 Operating lease commitments 

 Group as lessee
  The Group has entered into commercial lease for its Head Office space and plant hire operating lease 

for processing of Cam & Motor ore. The Head Office space lease has a tenure of one year with a renewal 
option and the Cam & Motor plant hire has a tenure of one year with a renewal option.
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31.  COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 31.1 Operating lease commitments (continued)

 Group as lessee (continued)
   There are no restrictions placed upon the Group by entering into these leases. Future minimum rentals 

payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are as follows:
       

       2016  2015
       US$ 000  US$ 000
 Payable within one year       2 715  2 699
 
 Group as Lessor
  The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its property portfolio consisting of the Group’s 

surplus office, recreational facilities and residential buildings. These leases have terms of 1 year. All 
leases include a clause to enable upward revision of the rental charge on an annual basis according to 
prevailing market conditions.

 
  Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are as 

follows:
       2016  2015
       US$ 000  US$ 000
 Receivable within one year     79  79

 31.2 Capital commitments
 Contracts and orders placed        1 161  6 521 
 Authorised by directors but not contracted        23 345  9 872 
 Total        24 506  16 393 

  The capital expenditure is to be financed out of the Group’s own resources and borrowings where 
necessary.

 31.3 Associate guarantee
  The Group provided a guarantee for Murowa Diamonds (Private) Limited’s loan of US$20million from 

Murowa Holdings Limited. The Company stands as a joint guarantor with Rio Zimbabwe Holdings Limited. 
The Company also pledged its shareholding of 2 050 shares in Murowa Diamonds (Private) Limited. The 
guarantee is expiring in December 2018 when the loan facility expires.

  The guarantee did not constitute a liability for the disclosed periods as no obligating event (i.e. default by 
Murowa Diamonds (Private) Limited occurred).

32.  EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

  Subsequent to year end, an Extraordinary General Meeting was held on the 23rd of February 2017 at 
which the shareholders approved  for the Company through its wholly owned subsidiary, RioGold (Private) 
Limited (“RioGold”)  to acquire 100% of the issued share capital of Palatial Gold Investments (Private) 
Limited (“Palatial Gold”) , a wholly owned subsidiary of Falcon Gold Zimbabwe Limited (“Falcon Gold”). 
Palatial Gold houses the Dalny Mine Complex which consists of a gold processing plant, equipment, 
mining claims, mining infrastructure, a mine compound and other assets with a total net asset value of 
approximately US$10.9million.  
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32.  EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD  (CONTINUED)

  A sum of US$200 000 was paid on the 9th of June 2016 as an exclusivity deposit and a further US$122 
000 was paid to transfer mining claims from Falcon Gold to Palatial Gold in line with the signed 
Agreement for the Sale of Shares. These advance payments will be deducted from the initial payment.

  The Transaction is still subject to additional Conditions Precedents which should all be fulfilled by 
the 31st of March 2017 or such other date as agreed to in writing by the Parties. The approval of the 
Transaction subsequent to year end by RioZim’s shareholders does not have any effect on the 31 
December 2016 financial statements.

33.  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
 
  In the ordinary course of business the Group is involved in a number of litigation cases for which the 

Group is defending and is confident that there are no liabilities that will arise from these cases. 

34.  GOING CONCERN

  As at the reporting date the Group’s current liabilities exceeded current assets by US$30.8million 
(December 2015: US$19.4million) and the Group’s statement of financial position showed adverse 
solvency ratios of 0.62:1 (December 2015: 0.73:1) and 0.08:1 (December 2015 0.16:1) for current and 
acid test ratios respectively. These factors indicate the existence of a material uncertainty on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and that it may be unable to realize its assets and 
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

  The following matters which support the appropriateness of the going concern assumption in the 
preparation of the financial statements of the Group have been considered by the Directors:

	 	•	 	The	Group	continues	 to	generate	net	earnings,	as	represented	by	EBITDA	with	US$11.0million	
(2015: US$2.3million) being generated in 2016. Management expect that the earnings will further 
improve following the commissioning of Cam & Motor Mine, acquisition of Dalny Mine by RioGold 
(Private) Limited and fruition of various projects which are being undertaken at ENR. 

	 •	 	Recording	of	an	operating	profit	since	2013	of	US$7.5million.	
	 •	 31%	increase	in	gold	production	volumes	from	1.2tonnes	to	a	record	1.6tonnes	in	2016.	
	 •	 Restructuring	of	debt	from	short	term	to	long	term.
	 •	 	The	reduction	by	20%	in	net	finance	costs	from	US$6.7million	to	US$5.4million.	This	reduction	

follows the successful debt restructure which was carried out at the end of 2015. The new debt 
structure has aligned the loans repayments to the Group’s cashflow cycle and the Company is 
current on coupon repayments. 

	 •	 	The	commissioning	of	the	Cam	&	Motor	plant	in	2016	which	is	expected	to	contribute	positively	to	
the Group’s cashflows.

	 •	 The	positive	operating	results	and	cashflow	forecasts	for	2017.

  The Directors therefore believe that the Group will continue to operate as a going concern and 
preparation of the financial statements on a going concern basis is still appropriate. This basis 
assumes that the realization of assets and settlement of liabilities will occur in the ordinary course of 
business.
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Rank Names Shares Percentage

1 GEM  RIOZIM  INVESTMENTS  LTD (NNR) 53,711,268  44.01 

2 OLD  MUTUAL LIFE ASSURANCE COMPANY ZIMBABWE LIMITED 27,437,033  22.48 

3 TURNER ROY 11,732,166  9.61 

4 RIOZIM  FOUNDATION CO (PVT) LTD 6,003,579  4.92 

5 CHARTERHOUSE 3 LIMITED 2,308,082  1.89 

6 SYMONDS GEOFFREY 2,069,829  1.70 

7 STANBIC   NOMINEES 1,824,174  1.49 

8 EDWARDS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 1,518,648  1.24 

9 SCB NOMINEES 033667800001 1,140,151  0.93 

10 NILESHKUMAR  &  SANJAYKUMAR  PATEL 853,551  0.70 

11 STANBIC NOMINEES 110008090024 823,061  0.67 

12 STANBIC  NOMINEES  (PVT)  LTD- NNR 742,463  0.61 

13 STANBIC NOMINEES 110007820025 589,143  0.48 

14 TFS NOMINEES (PVT) LTD 416,553  0.34 

15 LOCAL AUTHORITIES  PENSION FUND 361,637  0.30 

16 GURAMATUNHU   FAMILY  TRUST 357,918  0.29 

17 RIO TINTO AFRICA PENSION FUND 351,224  0.29 

18 CATERING INDUSTRY PENSION FUND 312,336  0.26 

19 NATIONAL FOODS P F-IMARA 303,513  0.25 

20 MINERVA INC WDRWL FUND-IMARA 297,182  0.24 

Selected Shares  113,153,511  92.70 

Non - Selected Shares  8,875,959  7.30 

Issued Shares  122,029,470  100.00 

  

1. Charterhouse shares increased by 43,928 from 31 December 2015 to 31 December 2016.  

2. TFS shares decreased from 428,562 to 416,553 during the same period.  

3. SCB Nominees shares decreased by 122,337 from 1,262,488 to 1,140,151.  

Top 20 Shareholders
As at 31 December 2016
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Notice is hereby given that the 61st Annual General Meeting of members will be held at No. 1 Kenilworth Road, 
Highlands, Harare, Zimbabwe on Thursday 15 June 2017 at 10.30 hours for the purpose of transacting the 
following business:-

A. ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. Financial Statements 
  To receive, consider and adopt the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 together 

with the Report of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

2. Directorate
  a)  To re-elect directors by single resolution in terms of section 174 of the Companies Act [Chapter 

24:03]. 
  b)  Messrs. Dengu and Sharma retire by rotation in terms of Article 95 and 96 of the Company’s 

Articles of  Association and being eligible, they offer themselves for re-election.

3.        Directors’ Remuneration 
 To approve the remuneration of the directors for the year ended 31 December 2016.

4. Auditors’ Fees and Appointments
 a) To approve the remuneration of the Auditors for the financial year ended 31 December 2016.
 b)  To appoint auditors for the ensuing year until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting. 

Messrs Ernst & Young Chartered Accountants (Zimbabwe) retire and being eligible, offer themselves 
for re-election. 

B. SPECIAL BUSINESS
 
  To consider and if deemed fit, pass with or without modification, the following ordinary resolution:-
  “THAT up to 10% of the authorised unissued ordinary shares of the Company be placed under the 

control of Directors, until the next Annual General Meeting, to be issued, subject to the requirements 
of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association and the Zimbabwe Stock Exchange Listing 
Requirements”.

C. ANY OTHER BUSINESS
 To transact any other business as may be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

APPOINTMENT OF PROXY:
 i)  In terms of the Companies Act [Chapter 24:03], a member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting 

is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote on his behalf. A proxy need not be a 
member of the Company.

 ii)  Proxy forms must be deposited at the registered office of the Company or at the office of the 
Transfer Secretaries (Corpserve Registrars (Private) Limited, Second Floor, ZB Centre, Corner 
First Street and Kwame Nkrumah Avenue, Harare) not less than 48 (forty-eight) hours before the 
time appointed for the holding of the meeting.

By Order of the Board
RioZim Management Services (Private) Limited 
(Secretaries) 
Per Z Makorie 

Notice of Annual General Meeting

RIOZIM LIMITED
NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(Incorporated in Zimbabwe on 29 August 1956 under registration number 607/56)



RioZim Limited
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 6

102

YEARSYEARS
1956-2016

RIOZIM LIMITED
CELEBRATING 

Notes



For use at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of RioZim Limited to be held at No. 1 Kenilworth Road, Highlands, 

Harare, Zimbabwe on Thursday 15 June 2017 at 10.30 hours..

I/We.....................................................................................................................................................................................
(Name/s in block letters)

Of.........................................................................................................................................................................................
Being a member of RioZim Limited (“the Company”)

holding..........................................................................................................................oridinary shares in the Company

Hereby appoint....................................................................................of............................................................................ 
     Address 

.............................................................................................................................................................................................

Or failing him/her...................................................................................of..........................................................................
    Address

.............................................................................................................................................................................................
 
Or failing him/her, the Chairman of the meeting as my/our proxy to attend, speak and vote for me/us on my/our 
behalf at the annual general meeting of the Company as specified above and any adjournments thereof. 

Signed this......................................................................................... Day of...............................................................2017

Signature of member..........................................................................................................................................................

Notes to Proxy

INSTRUCTIONS FOR SIGNING AND LODGING THIS FORM OF PROXY

It is important that this information is read before completing the Proxy form. 

1.  In terms of section 129 of the Companies Act [Chapter 24:03] a member of the Company entitled to attend and 
vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to act in the alternative as his/her 
proxy, to attend, vote and speak instead of him/her. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. Appointment 
of a proxy will not preclude a member from attending and voting at the meeting. Every person present and 
entitled to vote at a general meeting shall, on a show of hands, have one vote only, but in the event of a poll, every 
share shall have one vote.

2.  A deletion of any printed matter and the completion of any blank spaces need not be signed or initialed. Any 
alteration or correction must be initialed by the signatory/ies. The proxy form must be signed and dated for it to 
be valid.

3.  In accordance with Article 73 of the Company’s Articles of Association, instruments of proxy must be deposited 
at the registered office of the Company addressed to the Company Secretary or at the office of the Transfer 
Secretaries (specified overleaf) not less than 48 (forty-eight) hours before the time appointed for holding the 
meeting. If in default, the instrument of proxy shall  be rendered invalid. 

4.  Documentary evidence in the form of a board resolution establishing the authority of a person signing this proxy 
form must be deposited together with the proxy form not less than 48 (forty-eight) hours before the meeting 
unless previously recorded by the Company Secretary of the Company’s Transfer Secretaries. 

PROxy FORM

RIOZIM LIMITED
NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(Incorporated in Zimbabwe on 29 August 1956 under registration number 607/56)

103



RioZim Limited
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 6

104

YEARSYEARS
1956-2016

RIOZIM LIMITED
CELEBRATING 

5.  If two or more proxies appointed in the alternate attend the meeting then that person attending the meeting 
whose name appears first on the proxy form shall be regarded as the validly appointed proxy. 

6.  When there are joint holders of shares, any one holder may sign the proxy form. In the case of joint holders, the 
senior who tenders a vote will be accepted to the exclusion of other joint holder. Seniority will be determined 
by the order in which names stand in the register of members. 

 
7.  This is a GENERAL PROXY allowing the proxy to vote on behalf of the member on the resolutions properly 

proposed for the meeting and or any other business that may properly come before the meeting. The proxy 
can vote as he/she sees fit FOR or AGAINST a resolution unless given additional specific written directions as 
to how to vote on specific resolutions in which case those directions must be filed together with this General 
Proxy.

8.  The completion and lodging of this proxy form will not preclude the member who grants this proxy form from 
attending the meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in 
terms of the proxy form should such member wish to do so. In the event of such personal attendance the 
proxy form will be revoked. 

Transfer Secretaries Registered Office
Corpserve Registrars (Private) Limited  RioZim Limited 
2nd Floor ZB Centre  1 Kenilworth Road 
Cnr 1st and Kwame Nkrumah Avenue Highlands
Harare  Harare
+263-4-758193,750711/2 +263-4-746141/9, 776085/91, 746089/95.



 

MISSION

    

    

 
 

   
   

VALUES

 

VISION

A proudly Zimbabwean 
company that aims to
become a large 
diversified regional
company delivering 
sustainable
shareholder wealth
from natural 
resources. 

 

 

To achieve success through:
• Optimisation of existing  
 business.
• Exploration of new   
 opportunities.
• Implementation of world- 
 class operating   
 standards.
• A culture of success.
• Recognition of our   
 employees and 
 communities.
• High standards of   
 HSE Management.
• Good corporate 
 governance. 

• Integrity
• Fairness
• Accountability
• Professionalism
• Transparency
• Reliability 
• Diligence
• Commitment
• Teamwork



Registered Office
RioZim Limited

1 Kenilworth Road
Highlands, Harare

+263 -4-746141/9,776085/91,746089/95.
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